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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020
The directors of Southern Aboriginal Corporation (“SAC” or “the Corporation”) present their report for the year ended 30 June 2020, as
approved at a board meeting held on 9 October 2020.

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
Director
Glen Colbung (Chairperson)

Qualifications
Noongar Elder from the Lower South West and Great Southern of WA; Founding
member of the Noongar Land Council; Founding member of South West Aboriginal
Land and Sea Council

Shirley Williams (Vice Chairperson)
Shawn Colbung
James Khan
Trevor Eades
Leah Dann
Faye Slater

Noongar Elder from the South West region of WA; Past member of the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Commission
Elder and Chairperson of Seabrook Aboriginal Corporation; Past TAFE Program
Manager for Aboriginal Studies

Samantha Williams
(appointed 28 November 2019, resigned 31
January 2020)
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Board Meetings held/attended while in office

Name
Glen Colbung (Chairperson)
Shirley Williams (Vice Chairperson)
Shawn Colbung
James Khan
Trevor Eades
Leah Dann
Faye Slater
Samantha Williams

Number of
meetings held
whilst a director

Number of
meetings
attended whilst
a director

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
1

7
7
1
0
7
7
7
1

The Secretary throughout the year was Ms Asha Bhat. Her qualifications include Masters of Business Administration, Master of Business
(Professional Accounting), Master of Mathematics, Bachelor of Science, Diploma of Management and she is an Associate member of CPA.
Officers
The names of the Officers of the Corporation throughout the year and at the date of this report are:
Name

Position

Asha Bhat
Oscar Colbung

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
Family Violence Prevention Legal Service Manager

Review of operations
SAC’s operations for the financial year resulted in a deficit of $478,884 (2019: deficit of $341,808).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020
Principal activities
The Corporation is a not-for-profit organisation that operates a range of community development, employment and housing related
services for Indigenous people living in the south-west of Western Australia.
The Corporation is a Public Benevolent Institution and it is eligible for the following taxation concessions:
(i) GST concession;
(ii) FBT rebate;
(iii) Income taxation exemption.
No change in its tax status as a result of activities undertaken during the year is likely.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020. We have seen an impact on our
business to date described below. The outbreak and the response of Governments in dealing with the pandemic has affected general
activity levels within the economy and the operations of the Corporation. The scale and duration of these developments remain uncertain
as at the date of this report however they have had an impact on the Corporation’s financial performance in the current year. These
include:
·
The COVID-19 pandemic triggered extreme investment market volatility from February 2020 onwards. This contributed to an
adverse effect on the Corporation’s managed investment portfolio.
·
The Corporation also initiated and maintained strict infection control protocols across our operations and workplaces to ensure
the well-being of our staff and contractors. Additional risk mitigation strategies were also implemented to ensure the continuity
of operational service delivery throughout the Corporation.
Other than the matters raised above, there were no significant changes in the nature of the activities that occurred during the year.
Subsequent events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significant affect the
operations of the Corporation, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
It is expected that the operations of the Corporation will continue in line with that of the current reporting period. The Corporation will
continue to pursue its policy of providing additional services as funding can be accessed and improving the outcomes of the current
programs for the benefit of its members and the community. New funding applications have been submitted, with the outcomes currently
pending assessment.

Environmental regulations
SAC’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

Dividends, shares, options and other interests
SAC’s rule book does not permit dividends to be paid and thus no dividends were paid or are recommended to be paid.
Similarly, SAC is an Aboriginal Corporation and does not issue shares, options or other interests in the Corporation. As a consequence, no
shares, options or other interests were granted during or since the end of the year and no options were outstanding at the date of this
report.

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance is held to cover a director for certain liabilities arising whilst acting as a director of the
Corporation. The wording of the policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liabilities insured and the amount of the premium.

Indemnification of auditors
To the extent permitted by law, SAC has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young Australia, as part of the terms of its audit
engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has been made to
indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.

Applications under Section 169-5 of the Act
No applications have been made under section 169-5 of the Act and none were granted.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020
Legal proceedings
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Corporation or intervene in any proceedings to which the
Corporation is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Corporation for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Corporation was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Auditor's Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required by Subdivision 339-50 of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander) Act 2006 Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 is set out on page 7.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

Glen Colbung
Chairperson
Kojonup
9 October 2020
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
for the year ended 30 June 2020
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Southern Aboriginal Corporation, I state that in the opinion of the directors:
(a)

(b)

the financial statements and notes of Southern Aboriginal Corporation are in accordance with the Corporations (Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Corporation’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, the Corporations (Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013; and

there are reasonable grounds to believe that Southern Aboriginal Corporation will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Glen Colbung
Chairperson
Kojonup
9 October 2020
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Ernst & Young
11 Mounts Bay Road
Perth WA 6000, Australia
GPO Box M939 Perth WA 6843

Tel: +61 8 9429 2222
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436
ey.com/au

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Southern Aboriginal
Corporation
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Southern Aboriginal Corporation for the financial year
ended 30 June 2020, and in accordance with the requirements of Subdivision 60-C of the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Subdivision 339-50 of the Corporations
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have
been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of any applicable code of
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Pierre Dreyer
Partner
9 October 2020

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Appendix 1

PD:AJ:SAC:010

Appendix 1Page | 7

Appendix 1

Appendix 1

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes

2020

2019

$

$

Revenue

2.1

2,642,428

2,733,322

Other income

2.1

297,057

139,341

Employee benefits expense

2.2

(1,453,677)

(1,387,587)

Depreciation expense

(743,181)

(597,753)

Repairs and maintenance

(140,246)

(240,901)

(1,055,736)

(1,009,440)

(453,355)

(363,018)

14,500

32,099

Finance costs

(40,029)

(10,889)

Net finance income/(loss)

(25,529)

21,210

Surplus/(deficit) before tax

(478,884)

(341,808)

-

-

(478,884)

(341,808)

(1,215,349)

-

Total other comprehensive expense

(1,215,349)

-

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)

(1,694,233)

(341,808)

Other expenses

2.3

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Finance income

Income tax expense

2.4

Surplus/(deficit) after tax
Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

3.1

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Management note that the 2020
results include the impact of accounting for AASB 16 Leases (“AASB 16”), whilst the 2019 results were prepared under the previous lease
accounting standard requirements; refer to notes 4.5 and 6.5 for further details.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2020

Notes

2020

2019

$

$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4.1

1,945,673

2,016,727

Trade and other receivables

4.2

144,925

192,165

-

3,575

809,844

823,862

2,900,442

3,036,329

Other assets
Financial assets at fair value

5.1

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

3.1

21,117,206

22,994,066

Right-of-use assets

4.5

127,982

-

Total non-current assets

21,245,188

22,994,066

TOTAL ASSETS

24,145,630

26,030,395

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

4.3

535,494

887,223

Employee benefits

4.4

190,401

149,031

-

26,549

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

5.2

44,688

44,688

Lease liabilities

4.5

149,537

-

920,120

1,107,491

30,021

50,220

-

74,177

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits

4.4

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

5.2

552,050

572,064

Lease liabilities

4.5

37,853

-

619,924

696,461

1,540,044

1,803,952

22,605,586

24,226,443

4,750,935

5,156,443

Reserves

17,854,651

19,070,000

TOTAL EQUITY

22,605,586

24,226,443

Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained surplus

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Management note that the 2020
results include the impact of accounting for AASB 16 Leases (“AASB 16”), whilst the 2019 results were prepared under the previous lease
accounting standard requirements; refer to notes 4.5 and 6.5 for further details.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2020
Retained
surplus

Asset
revaluation
reserve

Total
equity

$

$

$

At 1 July 2019

5,156,443

19,070,000

24,226,443

Deficit for the year

(478,884)

-

(478,884)

73,376

-

73,376

-

(1,215,349)

(1,215,349)

At 30 June 2020

4,750,935

17,854,651

22,605,586

At 1 July 2018

5,498,251

19,070,000

24,568,251

Deficit for the year

(341,808)

-

(341,808)

-

-

-

5,156,443

19,070,000

24,226,443

Impact of new accounting standards
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
At 30 June 2019

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Management note that the 2020
results include the impact of accounting for AASB 16 Leases (“AASB 16”), whilst the 2019 results were prepared under the previous lease
accounting standard requirements; refer to notes 4.5 and 6.5 for further details.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

$

$

3,326,122

3,005,294

(3,312,236)

(2,989,378)

14,568

32,099

(11,631)

(7,494)

16,823

40,521

95,397

-

(58,816)

(1,316,616)

Acquisition of other investments

-

(800,000)

Proceeds from sale of investments

-

1,217,223

36,581

(899,393)

Proceeds from borrowings

-

616,752

Repayment of borrowings

(20,013)

-

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities

(104,445)

(8,752)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

(124,458)

608,000

(71,054)

(250,872)

2,016,727

2,267,599

1,945,673

2,016,727

Notes

Operating activities
Receipts from customers, inclusive of GST
Payments to suppliers and employees, inclusive of GST
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of plant and equipment

Net cash flows from/(used in) in investing activities
Financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

4.1

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Management note that the 2020
results include the impact of accounting for AASB 16 Leases (“AASB 16”), whilst the 2019 results were prepared under the previous lease
accounting standard requirements; refer to notes 4.5 and 6.5 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SECTION ONE: ABOUT THIS REPORT
Corporate information:

Going concern:

Southern Aboriginal Corporation (“SAC” or “the Corporation”) is
an incorporated entity domiciled in Australia. The Corporation is
a-not-for profit entity organisation established to provide
services to the Aboriginal community. The Board have
determined that the Corporation is a reporting entity.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that
the Corporation is a going concern.

The financial statements were authorised for issued in
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 9
October 2020.
Statement of compliance:
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which
was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006, the
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission Act 2012,
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements and other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board. The Corporation is a notfor-profit, private sector entity which is not publicly accountable.
Therefore, the financial statements for the Corporation are
general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced
Disclosure Requirements (AASB – RDRs).
The accounting policies are consistent with those disclosed in the
prior period financial report, except for the impact of all new and
amended standards and interpretations as disclosed in Note 6.4.
The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not
result in significant changes to the Corporation’s accounting
policies or the comparative amounts disclosed.
Basis of preparation:
The financial report was prepared on a historical cost basis,
modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of
selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial
liabilities.

The Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern is
dependent upon the ongoing receipt of State and
Commonwealth Government Grants. The ongoing receipt of
these Grants is subject to compliance with the conditions
attached to the Grants. Should the Corporation be unable or
ineligible to receive recurrent Government Grants, then it would
need to reduce operational expenditure to continue as a going
concern.
The Directors are confident that the Corporation will continue to
receive ongoing funding from recurrent Government Grants from
both the State and Commonwealth to continue to finance
operations. On this basis the Directors believe that the
Corporation will continue to generate sufficient cash flow to be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.
Key estimates and judgements:
In applying the Corporation’s accounting policies, management
continually evaluates judgements, estimates and assumptions
based on experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have an impact on the Corporation.
All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to
be reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances
known to management. Actual results may differ from those
judgements, estimates and assumptions.
Significant judgements, estimates and assumption made by
management in the preparation of these financials are found in
the following notes:
Note 3.1 Impairment of non-financial assets

Page 15

Note 3.1 Fair value of property under the
revaluation model

Page 15

Currency:

Note 3.1 Useful lives of plant and equipment

Page 16

The functional and presentation currency of the Corporation is
Australian dollars.

Note 4.4 Unearned income

Page 18

Note 4.5 Provision for long-service leave

Page 19

Note 4.6 Lease term

Page 21

Note 4.6 Incremental borrowing rate

Page 21

Comparative information:
The financial statements provide comparative information in
respect of the previous period. The re-classification of items in
the financial statements of the previous period was made in
accordance with the classification of items in the financial
statements of the current period.
Impact of COVID-19
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World
Health Organization in March 2020. The outbreak and the
response of Governments in dealing with the pandemic is
interfering with general activity levels within the community, the
economy and the operations of the Corporation. The scale and
duration of these developments remain uncertain as at the date
of this report. The Corporation has considered the potential
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions. However, as these are
subject to increased uncertainty the actual outcomes may differ
from the estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SECTION TWO: CURRENT PERFORMANCE
2.1 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
2020

2019

$

$

1,664,194

1,631,831

Rent income

774,830

859,257

Property leasing income

203,404

242,234

2,642,428

2,733,322

36,260

39,929

(14,018)

58,912

8,976

31,164

Sundry Income

46,298

9,336

Donations

52,298

-

167,243

-

297,057

139,341

Revenue
Government contributions

Other income
Recoveries
Gain/(loss) on investment
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

Unfunded program gains

Recognition and measurement
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Corporation expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, and when the
performance obligations for each different activity have been met. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties. The specific recognition criteria
below must also be met before revenue is recognised:
·

Government contributions
The Corporation’s programs are supported by contributions from the State and Commonwealth.
Revenue will be recognised over time as services are delivered with any balance unearned recognised on the balance sheet to the
extent of future delivery of contracted services. Management calculates the provision for unspent grants with regards to the service
delivery of contracted services across the period.
Pursuant to the terms of the grant arrangement, the Government may request a refund for unspent grants where there has been an
under provision of service. A provision for unspent grants is carried as a liability on the balance sheet.

·

Rendering of services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised on the date of delivery of those services to the recipient. Fees charged for services
provided to clients are recognised when the service is provided.

·

Rent and leasing income
Rental income is recognised in income on a periodical basis in accordance with the tenancy agreement. Rent received in advance is
included in unearned income and is classified within liabilities.

·

Donations
Donations collected are recognised as income when the Corporation gains control, economic benefits are probable and the amount of
the donation may be measured reliably.

·

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method (“EIR”). The EIR is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a short period, where appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

·

Investment income
Investment income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SECTION TWO: CURRENT PERFORMANCE
2.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2020

2019

$

$

1,303,647

1,218,494

108,054

117,434

41,976

51,659

1,453,677

1,387,587

2020

2019

$

$

Computer expenses

17,923

22,320

Conference/meetings/seminars

10,374

20,242

Consultants fees

129,950

152,587

Electricity and gas

18,360

16,481

Insurance - general

215,573

176,900

Legal fees

12,908

-

Doubtful debts expense

50,041

Motor vehicle expenses

37,873

39,523

Office rental

82,672

81,322

Office supplies

14,681

28,009

Projects and project materials

38,115

38,055

146,730

159,763

Telephone/fax

19,476

44,573

Training costs

35,164

16,038

Travel

58,153

73,330

167,743

140,297

1,055,736

1,009,440

Salaries and allowances
Superannuation
Other employee-related expense

2.3 OTHER EXPENSES

Rates - land/water/water consumption

All other expenses

2.4 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
No provision for income taxes was recognised by the Corporation, which is exempt from income tax under Division 40 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SECTION THREE: GROWTH ASSETS
3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land at fair value

Buildings at fair
value

Motor vehicles

Plant and
equipment

Total

$

$

$

$

$

12,132,307

12,352,735

362,526

560,102

25,407,670

Additions

-

-

72,621

56,406

129,027

Disposals

(30,000)

(139,324)

(33,880)

-

(203,204)

-

-

(113,873)

-

(113,973)

12,102,307

12,131,411

287,294

616,508

25,219,620

At 30 June 2019

-

(1,728,516)

(172,896)

(512,192)

(2,413,604)

Depreciation charge for
the year

-

(528,910)

(38,456)

(15,294)

(582,660)

Disposals

-

59,324

30,429

-

89,753

Transferred to ROU asset

-

-

19,446

-

19,446

At 30 June 2020

-

(2,198,102)

(161,477)

(527,486)

(2,887,065)

(157,879)

(1,057,470)

-

-

(1,215,349)

(157,879)

(1,057,470)

-

-

(1,215,349)

At 30 June 2019

12,132,307

10,624,219

189,630

47,910

22,994,066

At 30 June 2020

11,944,428

8,957,839

125,917

89,022

21,117,206

Cost
At 30 June 2019

Transferred to ROU asset
At 30 June 2020
Depreciation and
impairment

Revaluation
Revaluation of property,
plant and equipment
At 30 June 2020

Net book value

Recognition and measurement
Key judgement and estimate: Impairment of non-financial
assets
The Corporation assesses impairment at the end of the
reporting period by evaluating specific conditions and events
that may be indicative of impairment triggers.
The Corporation holds its housing assets as Property, Plant and
Equipment rather than Investment Properties since the primary
purpose of the provision of the housing is of a social benefit
nature for Indigenous Australians and the rental income is
incidental to that purpose.

In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject
to an independent valuation, the directors conduct directors’
valuations to ensure the carrying amount for the land and
buildings is not materially different to the fair value.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity.
Revaluation decreases that offset previous increases of the same
class of assets shall be recognised in other comprehensive
income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other
decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Land and buildings

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based
on periodic, but at least every 5 years, valuations by external
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

Freehold land and buildings that have been contributed at no
cost or for nominal cost are valued and recognised at the fair
value of the asset at the date it is acquired.
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Motor vehicles, plant and equipment
Motor vehicles, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Such costs include the cost of replacing part of the plant and
equipment. When a major inspection is performed, the cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All
other repair and maintenance costs are expensed to profit or
loss as incurred. Land and building at Wittenoom Street, East
Perth are subject to encumbrances (caveat and easement
burden) and as such, these may not be sold by the Corporation
Freehold land and buildings are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses recognised.
The carrying amounts of the Corporation's assets are reviewed
at each balance date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Key judgement and estimate: Fair value of property under
the revaluation model
The Corporation assesses the fair value at each reporting
date by evaluating conditions that may lead to changes in fair
value. The Directors have assessed the fair value of land and
buildings based on market valuation independently provided
to the Corporation.
Depreciation and de-recognition
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
·

Buildings: 5%

·

Motor vehicles: 30.08%

·

Plant and equipment: 53.33%

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised on
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an
asset, calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised in
profit or loss.
Key judgement: Useful life of depreciable assets
The residual values, useful lives and methods of
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed at each financial year and adjusted
prospectively based on the expected utility of the
assets.
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4.1

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4.2 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

$

$

429,777

645,779

204,896

196,757

Housing - NAB

2,382

122,163

Trade receivables and other
receivables
Allowance for expected credit loss

(62,197)

(12,156)

Housing - WBC

451,489

6,846

2,225

7,564

CDEP account

115,793

113,721

144,925

192,165

Provisions account

653,804

642,833

-

463,037

17,043

16,739

5,711

5,609

Term deposit

100,000

-

FVLS Trust account

169,674

-

1,945,673

2,016,727

Resource account

Housing - NAB maintenance
Housing - DHWS support
FVLS trust account

Recognition and measurement
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Cash flows included in the statement of cash flows are on a
gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or
payable to, the Australian taxation Office, are classified as
financing cash flows.

Accrued income

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less an allowance
for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are non-interest
bearing with settlement terms of 30 days.
Allowance for expected credit losses
The Corporation recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments which are held at
amortised cost. For trade receivables, the Corporation applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The Corporation does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Corporation has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Fair value
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, the carrying
amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Restricted cash
Cash at bank includes an amount of $297,464 (2019: $197,244)
representing the balance of unexpended grants and grants held
in trust. The restriction arises as a result of the terms and
conditions of various funding agreements which require unspent
funds to be returned or used in future years for the purposes
specified in the funding agreements.
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(a) Unearned income

4.3 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The liability for unearned income is the unutilised amount of
grants received on the condition that specified services are
delivered or conditions are fulfilled. Ordinarily, the services are
provided or the conditions are satisfied within twelve months
from the receipt of the grant contributions.

2020

2019

$

$

Trade creditors

180,664

101,997

Other payables

13,928

54,112

Lease in advance – farms

43,438

42,970

297,464

688,144

Where the amount received is in respect of services to be
provided over a period that exceeds twelve months after the
reporting date or the conditions will only be satisfied more than
twelve months after the reporting date, the liability is
discounted and presented as non-current in the statement of
financial position.

535,494

887,223

The movement in unearned income is as follows:

Unearned income (a)

Recognition and measurement
Liabilities for trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value when goods and services are receipted, whether or
not billed to the Corporation, prior to the end of the reporting
period.

Total
$

At 1 July 2019

197,244

Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Amounts are non-interest bearing with
settlement terms of 30 days, on average.

Arising

1,754,874

Utilised

(1,643,780)

Fair value

Returned

(10,974)

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, the carrying
amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

At 30 June 2020

297,464

Current

297,464

Non-current

-

Key judgements: Unearned income
Management requires judgement to determine key
assumptions used in evaluating whether performance criteria
attached to a service arrangement were satisfied and the
likelihood that the State or Commonwealth would request a
refund, partially or in full, for unspent grant contributions.
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4.4 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Annual
leave

Long
service
leave

Total

$

$

$

At 1 July 2019

61,913

137,338

199,251

Arising

69,718

23,975

93,693

(44,956)

(27,566)

(72,522)

At 30 June 2020

86,675

133,747

220,422

Current

86,675

103,726

190,401

-

30,021

30,021

Utilised or reversed

Non-current
Recognition and measurement

Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate may be made of
the amount of the obligation.
When the Corporation expects some or all of the provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense related to any provision is recognised
in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employee rendering services up to the end of the reporting period.
These benefits include wages, salaries, annual leave and long-service leave.
Liabilities in respect of employees’ services rendered that are not expected to be wholly settled within one year after the end of the
reporting period in which the employees render the related services are recognised as long-term employee benefits.
These liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made to the employees using the projected
unit cost method. Liabilities expected to be wholly settled within one year after the end of the reporting period in which the employees
render the related services are classified as short-term benefits and measured at the amount due to be paid.
Key judgments: Long-service leave
Long service leave is measured at the present value of the benefits accumulated up to the end of the reporting period. The liability is
discounted using an appropriate discount rate. Management requires judgement to determine key assumptions used in the calculation
of future increases in salaries and wages, future on-cost rates and future settlement dates of employees’ departures.
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4.5 LEASES
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:
2020

2019

$

$

280,205

-

-

-

(152,223)

-

-

-

Closing Balance at 30 June

127,982

-

Current

117,329

-

10,653

-

Opening balance at 1 July
Additions
Depreciation
Variable lease payments reassessment

Non-current

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities recognised and the movements during the period:

Opening balance at 1 July
Additions
Accretion of interest
Variable lease payments reassessment
Payments
Closing Balance at 30 June
Current
Non-current

2020

2019

$

$

280,205

-

-

-

11,630

-

-

-

(104,445)

-

187,390

-

(149,537)

-

(37,853)

-

Recognition and measurement
The Corporation applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Corporation recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
i)

Right-of-use assets

The Corporation recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
·

Motor vehicles 6.65 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Corporation at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the Impairment of land and buildings at Note 3.1
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ii)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Corporation recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Corporation and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Corporation exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Corporation uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.
iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Corporation applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of residential housing for migrants (i.e., those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Key judgments: Lease term
The Corporation has several lease contracts that include extension options. The Corporation applies judgement in evaluating whether it
is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an
economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Corporation reassesses the lease term if there is a
significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to
renew.
Key judgments: Incremental borrowing rate
The Corporation cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Corporation would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Corporation ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Corporation estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain SAC-specific estimates.

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
2020

2019

$

$

152,223

-

11,631

-

Expense relating to short term leases (included in occupancy expenses)

-

-

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in general and administration expenses)

-

-

163,584

-

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities

Total amount recognised in profit and loss
The Corporation had total cash outflows for leases of $92,814 in 2020.

The Corporation has lease contracts that include extension options. These options are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in
managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Corporation’s business needs. Management exercises significant judgement in
determining whether these extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised.
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5.1

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

5.2

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

$

$

823,862

1,182,173

596,738

616,752

Contributions

-

800,000

596,738

616,752

Withdrawals

-

-

44,688

44,688

(14,018)

58,912

552,050

572,064

-

(1,217,223)

809,844

823,862

Opening balance at 1 July

Gain/(loss) on measurement to
fair value
Investment Income
Closing balance at 30 June
Recognition and measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held-for-trading if their
acquisition is for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised and subsequently re-measured in the consolidated
statement of financial position at fair value.
Negative net changes in fair value are presented as finance costs
and positive net changes in fair value are presented as finance
income in profit or loss.

Secured interest-bearing loan

Current
Non-current

The cash advance facility is secured by way of a registered first
mortgage held by the Westpac Banking Corporation over land of
the Corporation.
During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or
breaches against the secured interest-bearing loan.
Recognition and measurement
At initial recognition, interest-bearing loans are recognised at
the fair value of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interestbearing loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included as a finance cost in profit or loss.
Fair value
The carrying amount of interest-bearing loans is materially the
same as their fair value.

5.3

COMMITMENTS

On adoption of AASB 16, the Corporation recognised lease liabilities and right-of-use assets in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of AASB 117 Leases (“AASB 117”). Refer to notes 4.5 and 6.5 for further details.
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5.4 CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities relate to actual or potential claims of the Corporation that have arisen in the ordinary course of business, the
outcome of which cannot be foreseen at present and for which no amounts are provided for in the statement of financial position.
The Corporation does not have any contingencies as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil).
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6.1 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The Corporation is an Aboriginal-owned, community-based organisation based in Albany, Western Australia. Its purpose is to provide
cultural, arts, heritage, employment, family counselling, and housing services to the South West community. As a result members and
related parties are able to access services through the Corporation. Any transactions with Directors, members, Key Management Personnel
and other related parties are conducted on terms no different to that of other residents of the community.
(a) Key management personnel
Key management personnel of the Corporation include the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors.
(a) Compensation to key management personnel
For the year ended 30 June 2020, $281,223 (2019: $293,028) was recognised as an expense in respect of key management personnel
remuneration. Comparative information has been included.
Directors

Management

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

$

$

Short Term Benefits
Salaries and Allowances
Sitting Fees
Travel and allowances

-

-

238,867

240,226

5,260

7,989

-

-

14,676

22,271

-

-

-

-

22,420

22,542

19,936

30,260

261,287

262,768

Post-Employment Benefits
Superannuation

6.2 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Corporation, to affect significantly the operations of the
Corporation or the state of affairs of the Corporation in future years.

6.3 TREATMENT OF GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (“GST”)
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”), in which case the GST is recognised as part of the revenue or the expense item or as part of the cost
of acquisition of the asset, as applicable, or when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included within other receivable in the statement of financial position.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to
suppliers.

6.5 NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS FOR APPLICATION IN CURRENT AND FUTURE PERIODS
The Corporation applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“AASB 15”), AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (“AASB
1058”) and AASB 16 for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting standard is
described below.
Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Corporation. The Corporation has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 supersedes AASB 117. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.
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The Corporation has applied the modified retrospective method of adoption with the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of its initial application (i.e. 1 July 2019). Accordingly, comparative information has not been restated – i.e. it is presented as
previously reported under AASB 117 and related interpretations. The Corporation elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease
contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (short-term
leases), and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (low-value assets).
Leases in which the Corporation is a lessee
The effect of adopting AASB 16 is, as follows:
Impact on the statement of financial position (increase/(decrease)):
2020
$
Assets
Right-of-use assets

127,982

Total assets

127,982

Equity
Retained earnings

(245,037)

Liabilities
Lease liabilities

187,390

Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities

187,390

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss (increase/(decrease)):
2020
$
Lease Expense

(104,445)

Depreciation expense

(152,223)

Operating surplus

(256,668)

Finance costs
Net surplus (increase/(decrease))

11,631
(245,037)

Impact on consolidated statement of cash flows (increase/(decrease)):
2020
Operating lease payments
Interest paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Net cash flows from financing activities

$
(104,445)
11,631
(92,814)
92,814
(92,814)

Upon adoption of AASB 16, the Corporation applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases for which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Corporation recognised lease liabilities to make lease payments and rightof-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. In accordance with the modified retrospective method of adoption, the
Corporation applied AASB 16 at the date of initial application.
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Practical expedients applied
In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Corporation has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:
•

the previous assessment under AASB 117 of whether a contract contains a lease.

•

the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

•

the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 as short-term leases.

•

the accounting for operating leases as low value leases.

•

the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.

•

the accounting for peppercorn leases.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 supersedes AASB 11 Construction Contracts (“AASB 11”), AASB 118 Revenue (“AASB 118”) and related Interpretations and it
applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with its customers. AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which a Corporation expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
AASB 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each
step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires extensive disclosures.
The Corporation has applied the modified retrospective method of adoption with the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of its initial application (i.e. 1 July 2019). Accordingly, comparative information has not been restated – i.e. it is presented as
previously reported under AASB 118 and related interpretations. The Corporation has elected to apply the modified retrospective method
to all contracts at the date of initial application. No changes to revenue recognition were identified upon adoption of AASB 15.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, in conjunction with
AASB 15. These Standards supersede all the income recognition requirements relating to private sector NFP entities, and the majority of
income recognition requirements relating to public sector NFP entities, previously in AASB 1004 Contributions (“AASB 1004”). The
requirements of this Standard more closely reflect the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers.
The timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligation (a promise
to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by a group.
This Standard applies when a NFP group receives volunteer services or enters into other transactions where the consideration to acquire an
asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the Corporation to further its objectives. In the latter case, the
Corporation recognises and measures the asset at fair value in accordance with the applicable Australian Accounting Standard. Upon initial
recognition of the asset, this Standard requires the group to consider whether any other financial statement elements should be
recognised. These related amounts are accounted for in accordance with the applicable Australian Accounting Standard.
If the transaction is a transfer of a financial asset to enable a group to acquire or construct a recognisable nonfinancial asset to be
controlled by the Corporation (i.e. an in-substance acquisition of a non-financial asset), the Corporation recognises a liability for the excess
of the fair value of the transfer over any related amounts recognised. The Corporation recognises income as it satisfies its obligations under
the transfer similarly to income recognition in relation to performance obligations under AASB 15. If the transaction does not enable a
Corporation to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the Corporation, then any excess of the initial
carrying amount of the recognised asset over the related amounts is recognised as income.
No changes to revenue recognition were identified upon adoption of AASB 1058.
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AUDITOR'S REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Ernst & Young
11 Mounts Bay Road
Perth WA 6000, Australia
GPO Box M939 Perth WA 6843

Tel: +61 8 9429 2222
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436
ey.com/au

Independent auditor's report to the members of Southern Aboriginal
Corporation
Report on the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Southern Aboriginal Corporation (the ‘Registered Entity’),
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Registered Entity is in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations (Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006, including:
a.

giving a true and fair view of Southern Aboriginal Corporation’s financial position as at 30 June
2020 and of its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b.

complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Regulations 2013 and the Corporations
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 2017.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Registered Entity in accordance with the
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report
accompanying the financial report.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Registered Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements, the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and Corporations
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Registered Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Registered Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
►

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

►

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Registered Entity’s internal control.

►

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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►

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Registered Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Registered Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

►

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young

Pierre Dreyer
Partner
Perth
9 October 2020
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Minninup Pool Day Use Area – Master Plan
Executive Summary
1

Introduction

1.1 Background to this project
The Shire of Collie (SoC) received funding in 2018 to undertake the planning and environmental assessments
for a nature-based tourism facility, including low key accommodation at Minninup Pool on Reserve 34343,
Collie, Western Australia.
As a first stage the local Noongar community was engaged and consulted resulting in an endorsed visioning
report and heritage assessment1 (Dr Myles Mitchell). Concurrent to this a targeted fauna assessment and
flora survey2 (EcoEdge) was undertaken as well as a basic site analysis and context plan (Planned Focus)3.
These reports were used to inform the next stage being demand analysis and prefeasibility for
accommodation including community consultation and concept plans for the development. This was a
comprehensive study of the site and development options including further site analysis, community and
stakeholder consultation, investigation into management options and concept plans including staging of the
recommended development. The demand analysis and prefeasibility report 4(Brighthouse) was endorsed by
Council in December 2019.
Having gained both Aboriginal and general community support for this project as well as demand and
financial viability, Vicki Winfield & Associates Pty Ltd, in association with Coates Civil Consulting Pty Ltd were
engaged to prepare a master plan to upgrade the Minninup Pool Day Use Area and this Executive Summary
outlines the proposals for the foreshore area, together with an indicative cost estimate. The final report will
be completed in early 2021. Syme Marmion & Co have prepared a draft Benefits Assessment which is also
available.

1.2 Planning Process
The master plan was initially informed by the wealth of planning that was undertaken prior to the
commencement of this project and subsequently further investigations were undertaken particularly site
assessments and further community consultation, specifically focussed on the foreshore.
A communication plan was prepared by VWA5 for this project which focussed on communicating with
stakeholders that had previously registered their interest in the project and some additional stakeholders
that were identified as the project progressed. The plan also included further consultation with the Noongar
Community as recommended by the previous Aboriginal engagement regarding Minninup Pool.

1

Mitchell, Myles and Rosie Halsmith, The Minninup Pool Precinct Project: Aboriginal Engagement and Heritage
Assessment - Visioning Report, 2019.
2
Ecoedge, Reconnaissance and Targeted Flora and Vegetation Survey at pt. Reserve 34343, Collie, 2018
3
Planned Focus, Minninup Pool Reserve Site Analysis, Prepared for Shire of Collie, March 2019
4
Brighthouse, The Minninup Pool Demand and Pre-feasibility Study prepared for the Shire of Collie and the South West
Development Commission, December 2019
5
Vicki Winfield & Associates, ‘Communication Plan For the Shire of Collie, Minninup Pool Tourism Precinct Detailed
Design and Costings for Day Use Area Project’, unpublished, May 2020.
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The community survey undertaken in June 2020 provided information on activity and facility preferences,
visitor user patterns, and interpretation topics and this was complimented by one on one consultation with
key stakeholders such as land managers and Shire of Collie staff. Preliminary on site consultation with
Noongar Elders confirmed the directions in the Noongar Visioning report and consequently development
options were prepared and used as the basis for further consultation.
A community meeting about the design for the day-use area and interpretation of Noongar culture at
Minninup Pool was held in July 2020. This gave direction to the proposed site designs and interpretation
concepts and has been followed up with further site visits and consultation with the Elders. There is a need
for this consultation to continue as proposals continue to evolve and develop.
The revised concepts were then presented to the project management group and Shire of Collie Council in
August 2020 who gave additional direction to the project. The proposals were revised and made available for
community input in August and September 2020.
There was general support for the concepts with the need to retain naturalness emphasised and requests for
specific facilities such as those for the less able. There were those that wanted no change but others were
keen to arrest the degradation occurring at the site and generally improve facilities such as provide flushing
toilets and irrigated lawn areas.
Further investigations were undertaken to enable indicative cost estimates to be prepared and to confirm
the feasibility of the proposals. These included





The Shire of Collie commissioning a report into the feasibility of providing services (power, water and
sewer) to the day use area.
An assessment of the trees and necessary management by a qualified arborist as retention of trees
has been identified as an important component of the process.
Flagging in the proposed road alignments, inspecting these in the field and adjusting alignments to
preserve trees where feasible.
A preliminary assessment of the proposed river access structures by a marine engineer.

The above assessments, together with Council’s decision in November 2020 to seek funding to provide
services to the day use area have further informed the proposals which are detailed in this Executive
Summary.

L: Existing Infrastructure at Minninup Pool

R: Display as part of the community consultation
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1.3 SWOT Analysis
The various issues and opportunities identified for the area through the consultation and investigation are
summarised in the SWOT analysis below. These are considered to be the most influential factors, though
there are other considerations that are not included below.
Table 1 SWOT Analysis

Strengths
The area is valued by the whole community
An attractive natural environment with high visual quality
including the ephemeral qualities of the river.
Natural values such as habitat trees and significant flora
and fauna.
Significant Noongar Cultural Values.
Provides opportunities for natural recreation close to the
town.
Water based recreation especially swimming is popular,
particularly with young people.
Passive recreation such as relaxing, enjoying the view and
picnicking is popular.
Connection with a variety of trails, cycling, MTB, walking,
driving and paddling.
Dual use path linking to nearby areas and town centre.
Important dog walking area.
Existing commercial tourism.
Adventure races and other events sometimes held in the
area.
Will compliment/support proposed camping areas.

Weakness
No acknowledgement of Noongar Cultural values.
Much of the existing infrastructure is old and worn,
there are no BBQs and disabled access is limited
High levels of use are impacting the area (such as
erosion of sections of the foreshore).
Unmanaged activities (such as 4WDriving on Sandy
Beach and use of rope swings) is causing environmental
damage and creating visitor risks.
Vehicles drive through the site at speed.
Submerged hazards are known to be in the river.
Many trails are unsanctioned.
Heavy use is impacting vegetation such as along the
foreshore, worn grass areas and sealed areas stressing
the jarrah trees at the entry.
Weeds are established in some areas.
Dieback occurs throughout the site.
Litter and waste from humans, ducks, horses and dogs.
Feral ducks can be a nuisance looking for food.
Services such as power, water and sewage are not
provided at the site.

Opportunities

Threats

The local Noongar Community are keen to share their
cultural values and have ongoing involvement.
Provision of infrastructure can direct and manage visitor
pressure (e.g. providing river access structures can prevent
bank erosion).
Allowing for likely changes, such as changing water levels
can reduce the impact of change in the future.
Realigning roads and organising vehicles can reduce traffic
risks and provide more space for picnicking etc.
Managing form, line, colour and texture can assist with
retaining naturalness and visual quality.
Signage and interpretation can help visitors appreciate the
values of an area and manage visitor behaviour and risk.
Encouraging new visitors can bring economic benefits to
the local community.
Recreation results in health and wellbeing benefits.
Improving the presentation of an area and installing CCTV
can discourage vandalism and anti-social behaviour.
Capital investment can reduce ongoing maintenance needs
and therefore costs.
Areas of weed removal may be more suitable for
infrastructure than undisturbed natural areas.
Volunteers can contribute resources to a project and health
and wellbeing benefits to a community.

The area is part of the river’s flood plain.
Water levels fluctuate during the year, rainfall is
reducing and supplementing flow with mine dewatering
may not continue indefinitely.
People generally don’t like change.
Anti-social behaviour occurs at the site.
Visitor numbers are likely to increase with nearby
developments and increased visitor pressure may cause
crowding and lack of visitor satisfaction.
Increasing visitation to the site without increasing
capacity may cause displacement of current visitors
(locals).
Changing the experience at the site may also cause
displacement of existing visitors.
Development causes impacts such as tree and
vegetation removal (replanting can compensate in part
but takes time to establish).
Resources are required for development and ongoing
maintenance and management.
Development can change the character of an area
unless the essential values of the area are retained.
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Proposals

2.1 Vision
The vision for Minninup Pool is that it is a welcoming, natural place where the Noongar cultural values are
acknowledged and shared and recreation is provided sustainably for the whole of the Collie community.

2.2 Aims
The primary aims of the redevelopment of the Minninup Pool Foreshore are to




provide for the whole of the local Collie community;
acknowledge and share Noongar cultural values and
maintain naturalness while sustainably providing for recreation (including improving access and
facilities and protecting the foreshore from visitor impacts).

The secondary aims of the development are to





support the development of the proposed adjacent nature based accommodation facilities;
contribute to the development of Collie trails;
provide an attractive area that will in time become well known and encourage visitors to the area
and to
provide a venue for events and commercial tourist operations such as canoe hire, coffee vans etc.

The overall character is to be of natural open parkland with the river as its focus.

2.3 Overall Site Layout
The site context and layout for Minninup Pool Foreshore is shown on Map 1 Minninup Pool Foreshore Area
Upgrade – Site Context Map in Appendix 1. Key components of this plan are








Roads - The main access for Minninup Pool Foreshore will continue to be via Minninup Road off
Mungalup Road. Minninup Pool Road will now merge into the road to Sandy Beach at the foreshore
entry area, which returns to Mungalup Road at Griffin Bridge. The section of road from the pool to
the bridge currently has no name and it is recommended it is called Sandy Beach Road. The
extension of Minninup Road to the east, beyond the Rowing Club, is a dead end road which currently
accesses a number of informal riverside recreation sites and in the future may provide access to a
wellness centre and eco accommodation.
Collie Golf Course – is located north of Minninup Pool.
Camping and accommodation areas – a campground and some eco cabins are to be developed
nearby as separate projects by others, to provide nature based accommodation experiences.
Dual Use Paths (DUP) – a DUP links Minninup Pool to Collie town centre and a link to Mungalup
Bridge is proposed with the section to Sandy Beach included in the day use area proposals.
Trails – a number of informal tracks and mountain bike trails can be found in the area and some of
these are noted on the plan.
Minninup Pool Foreshore Day Use Area – has three distinct precincts with their own character – the
Sandy Beach Precinct, the Main Pool Precinct and the Rowing Club Precinct.
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2.4 Trails
The Minninup Pool Foreshore is an important component of the Collie Trails initiative as it is proposed to






compliment the development of the adjacent nature based accommodation which is providing
accommodation for trail users;
provide an attraction / stopping point on trails such as drive, cycle, mountain bike and walk trails;
be the trailhead for aquatic trails on the Collie River;
connect to trails that extend beyond the foreshore in the Minninup Pool area and
provide some specific trails along the foreshore itself.

The foreshore area needs to connect to and be integrated with the following trails that are being developed
by others:








The existing dual use path connecting to the Collie town site.
The proposed Minninup Link Trail that will connect the Minninup Pool area to Westralia
Conservation Park and the trails on the west side of Mungalup Road.
Drive trails that visit Minninup Pool, particularly wildflower trails that benefit from stopping points
with short wildflower walks.
Aquatic (paddling) trails on the Collie River, launching facilities are required along the Minninup Pool
foreshore.
Road cycling trails.
Mountain bike trails – well used informal trails currently exist on the reserve with loop trails east
and west of the foreshore area, these are proposed to be formalised in due course by others. The
connecting trail passing through the site needs retaining if feasible.
Trails connecting the proposed accommodation areas with facilities and recreation opportunities
along the foreshore.

In the context of the above trail framework the following trail infrastructure is proposed for Minninup Pool
Foreshore:







A trailhead on the foundations of the old rowing club building on the foreshore in front of the
current Rowing Club Building.
Continuation of the existing dual use path, along the current Minninup Pool Road alignment to the
old Rowing Club trailhead where the dual use path will terminate. This will be black asphalt and not
red asphalt.
Planning and construction of a dual use path linking the existing dual use path to Sandy Beach. The
northern section of this DUP is likely to form part of the Minninup Link (by others), but Sandy Beach
itself will be a spur trail as speeding ‘through’ cyclists would be a hazard for beach goers.
The Rowing Club trailhead will have potential to link to trails in the east of the reserve if/when they
are planned and developed.
The arrival points in the main parkland area at the bend in the river will have potential for some trail
information for trail users arriving from the west.
The existing mountain bike trail passing through the site will be accommodated within the site with
potential links to the DUP, links to foreshore facilities (such as toilets), connections to the main trails
(e.g. to Sandy Beach) and allowances to re-establish it where it is impacted by roadworks north of
the Rowing Club building.
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Canoe launching will continue to be from the beach at the Rowing Club with increased lawn areas, a
canoe set down bay and increased long vehicle parking. Canoe launching will also continue at Sandy
Beach with a clear, wide path to the beach. However set down and rigging areas will not specifically
be provided for. Informal boat launching will continue to be available at nearby Mungalup Bridge
and this may be formalised in the future.

Trails beyond the foreshore are only included indicatively in the master plan as the mountain bike trails need
formalising which is a planning process in its own right, any walk trails (such as new trails to enable
interpretation of bush tucker) will need to be integrated with these mountain bike trails and trails linking to
the accommodation areas will need to be integrated with the site planning for those locations.
The DUPs will have some trailside interpretation within the site, but trailheads and trail marking is being
developed as part of the overall Collie Trails initiative and so is not a part of this master plan.

2.5 Sandy Beach Precinct
Sandy Beach Precinct will continue to provide for informal water based activities and beach activities and
there will be a focus on rehabilitating degraded areas, reducing visitor risk and increasing amenity with
additional facilities, but these will be lower key than the main pool area, though services (power, water,
sewerage and electricity), are to be provided. See drawing Minninup Pool Day Use Area Upgrade – Master
Plan – Sandy Beach Precinct which accompanies this report, for the overall layout and specific components
of the proposal are discussed below.













Weed removal and control is proposed for before works commence but will likely be ongoing.
Vehicles will be excluded from the beach to reduce the risk of pedestrian vehicle conflict and to
enable sections of the foreshore to regenerate while other areas are left as beach to give visitor
access to the water.
The Sandy Beach Road will be set to the west, mostly in the old sand pit, to separate through traffic
from beach goers.
The car park will be a drive through design and set mostly on the existing roads and tracks with
approximately 35 bays and a disabled bay. Long vehicles will be able to park on the widened
shoulder of Sandy Beach Road which will have a connecting path to the beach. Vehicles will be
contained in the carpark with bollards, some cut banks and a combination of existing trees and new
structures such as shelters and tables.
The Cultural Area, which is to be developed to the west, will also be supported by the parking area
and will be linked by a path with service access provided from Sandy Beach Road. The existing
mountain bike trail will also be realigned. The infrastructure for the Cultural Area will be developed
as directed by the Noongar community at the detail design stage, but may consist of a yarning circle,
small bush garden and exhibit area.
The dual use path from Minninup Pool will have a sitting area with views to the beach and will cross
the road on a speed hump improving safety.
The wide path will connect to the interpretation / arrival point from which visitors can step on to
the beach. Nearby there will be bike racks.
Service access (3m wide) with a removable bollard or similar for service and emergency access will
connect from the car park (with bins on this section of path) to the beach and will have a ramp /
hardened access on to the beach which will also be suitable for launching paddle craft.
Elsewhere a network of smaller paths will connect parking areas to shelters, toilets and tables etc.
with most facilities suitable for use by those in wheelchairs.
Toilets will be flushing with basins for hand washing, an outside shower and a stand tap for washing
of sandy feet.
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Two skillion shelters are proposed approx. 6m x 4m or a little larger, one with 2 tables the other
with a 2 plate BBQ and table. BBQ to be electric.
Tables will have separate benches and a table, with some suitable for wheelchair access. They will
be set on 3m x 3m concrete bases and will generally connect to paths. Some tables will be set near
the river’s edge near new trees (paperbarks Melaleuca preissiana) for shade.
Rehabilitation areas will be fenced off and planted with small stock and may be mulched and / or
have topsoil and debris from clearing works.
There will be no visitor access provided to the Bedrooms area with service, emergency and cultural
access provided along one existing track and all other tracks to be rehabilitated.
Wheelchair access onto the beach can be provided via a beach wheelchair that is currently available
from the Collie Pool and a concrete path, with rails where it enters the water, is also proposed to
provide access for all to the water from the paddle access ramp.
Minimal lighting for night time use and security cameras will be provided.

L: Looking south along Sandy Beach

R: Drainage issues west of Sandy Beach

2.6 Minninup Pool Precinct – Parkland Area
The western portion of Minninup Pool Precinct is a quieter contemplative area with a focus on passive
recreation and Noongar Culture. It is suggested the elevated open area, together with the terraces is actually
given its own name, such as Minninup Pool Park or an appropriate Noongar name. Swimming will continue
at the beach at the base of the terracing and there will be picnic tables but no BBQs with varied
opportunities for sitting and contemplating the river. The site for the proposed cultural centre is north of the
entry area and south of the Golf Course, but developing this centre is not a component of the master plan.
The eastern portion is more focused on picnicking and water based activities and is described in the next
section See drawing Minninup Pool Day Use Area Upgrade –Master Plan – Pool Precinct which accompanies
this report, for the overall layout and specific components of the proposal are discussed below.
The key proposals for the precinct are noted below.



The intersection of Minninup Road with Sandy Beach Road will be realigned to make Sandy Beach
Road the through road so vehicles have to slow to turn into the relocated Minninup Pool Road.
Parking will be set off the new realigned Minninup Road with approximately 18 standard bays, 2
disabled accessible bays, a couple of long vehicle bays and some motor cycle bays. The car bays face
the park and river. A couple of car bays will be set off Sandy Beach Road near the existing concrete
steps giving additional river viewing opportunities.
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The existing Minninup Road will be a dual use path 3m wide also used by service vehicles. Low head
walls will be installed at culverts to suggest a bridge and reduce the scale of the path.
 The existing dual use path will cross the road west of the intersection (with a speed hump) and will
be located west of Sandy Beach Road. It will cross Sandy Beach Road (with another speed hump) in
the vicinity of the above car bays and arrive at a small lookout (Minninup Lookout) over the pool
which links to the area at the top of the concrete steps. If the steps are retained they will have a new
handrail, but the feasibility of providing an end point (platform, ladder etc.) is still being investigated
and it may be that the steps are removed.
 The lookout will have seating and interpretation and some site orientation information. From the
lookout there will be a path descending at disabled gradients to the base of the terracing by the
river. The path will be flush with the beach enabling people to step off the path easily onto the
beach. This path will continue east up the slope to join the main Minninup path and one or two
interpretation plaques will be set along the path.
 A wide path/boulevard, which follows the top of the bank, will connect the dual use path (near the
lookout) to the main Minninup path. The existing dual use path will not connect to the main path in
a direct line as that would take it in front of parked vehicles with the potential for alighting
passengers to step out in front of cyclists. It would also make it close to the yarning circle.
 Where the northern end of the boulevard meets the main path (near two large jarrah trees) will be a
welcome node with a sculptural sign and welcome to Minninup Pool information and artwork. This
will be the arrival point for those arriving in vehicles. The boulevard will have a picnic table and seats
(with arms for the elderly) set along it for viewing the pool. These seats could be Waugal seats.
 The realigned and setback Minninup and Sandy Beach Roads enable a park to be created in the angle
between the two roads with the existing majestic jarrah Eucalyptus marginata trees in the centre.
The bitumen in the area will be carefully removed and a large grassed yarning circle with logs around
the circumference, established in the centre of the park. Low local shrubs will be planted to partially
screen out the adjacent roads (while still allowing glimpses of the river from the road) and lawn
areas established above the pool. Some plants along the edges of the lawn areas and paths may be
interpreted or named.
 Picnic tables will be provided in the park overlooking the pool and a small skillion shelter to the
south will provide some shade and shelter until more trees are established (shelters on individual
tables tend to provide poor shade and unless carefully sited they will block out views for others, so
they are not proposed).
 There will be a Noongar sculpture of a Waugal at the western side of the park, prominent for all
arriving at the Pool Precinct.
 The terraces will be refurbished with blocks of a laterite concrete mix, used to build low retaining
walls to replace the disintegrating timber retaining walls. An additional wall is proposed for the
lower level to give a 2m wide terrace associated with the beach. The lowest terrace will be set back
0.5m from the existing retaining wall to give more path / beach space. The upper terrace will be
wider (approximately 8m) and suitable for activities. The upper wall will be set back a little but
setting back too far will restrict seating opportunities between the wall and the path, hence the
proposal to only have one picnic table as more will be close to the wall (a hazard). The existing steps
and path down the terracing will be replaced and widened to 3m and the steps will have a central
hand rail.
 All lawn will be irrigated to withstand the high use levels and to be comfortable to sit on.
 A toilet will be located near the car park with cycle racks, bins and service / emergency access all
close by.
 Lighting and CCTV will be strategically provided throughout the site.
 Picnic tables will be set among trees east of the terraces and this area merges with the picnic area,
which is discussed in the next section.
11
Vicki Winfield & Associates Pty Ltd – Minninup Pool Foreshore Master Plan (Preliminary Executive Summary)
04.12.2020
Appendix 3

Appendix 3

Appendix 3



Appendix 3

A pontoon is proposed for the river with the exact location to be decided after underwater
investigations have been made as there is understood to be a lot of debris in the river such as a truck
and the old diving platform. For cultural reasons the pontoon should be set in the deepest part of
the river, see indicative location on the plan.

L: Looking North to the existing parking area

R: Looking northeast over the terracing

2.7 Minninup Pool Precinct - Picnic and Water Based Activities Area
Between the parkland area and the Rowing Cub are picnic areas with proposed facilities enabling access to
the river for water based activities. See drawing Minninup Pool Day Use Area Upgrade – Master Plan – Pool
Precinct which accompanies this report for the overall layout and specific components of the proposal are
discussed below.












The relocating of Minninup Road away from the river and the conversion of the current road to a
path gives more area for picnicking and removes the potential for speeding vehicles to conflict with
pedestrians.
Parking is provided for with a central parking area of approximately 15 standard vehicles and a long
vehicle bay, off the new road. The bays are facing the pool, so the pool can still be enjoyed by those
sitting in vehicles and this organised parking will assist with reducing compaction under trees from
parked vehicles.
Trees will have mulch on their root zones to sustain them and where there are groups of trees the
combined mulch areas will create more natural looking areas which will separate and enclose the
open areas of irrigated lawn that will be between the groups of trees.
River access will be managed with stepped access structures built to enable visitors to access the
water without eroding the river banks. The banks will be rehabilitated as necessary with coir logs,
revegetation etc.
The proposed pontoon will be accessible from these swimming access stairs.
Between the river access structures the foreshore will be temporarily fenced for rehabilitation. No
path will be provided close to the foreshore in this precinct but stepping stones and / or a small
bridge will provide access across one or both of the drainage lines to enable people to wander along
the foreshore grassed areas. Some new shade trees will also be planted for the future.
The existing picnic tables will be retained and new picnic tables installed to provide for more visitors.
A seat with arms will be set along the trail.
A skillion roofed shelter (approximately 4m x 12m) with 2 picnic tables and a central 2 plate BBQ will
be located near the car park.
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Trailside plaques (1 or 2) will be provided in the area and there will be a small interpretation node
near the car park.
The existing toilet will be removed and a new large toilet provided near the Rowing Club.

L: Looking east along existing road and picnic area

R: Looking east along the worn foreshore

2.8 Rowing Club Precinct
The Rowing Club Precinct consists of around the Rowing Club shed (to be the Collie Kayak and Rowing Club
shed) and associated foreshore areas. The shed is currently leased by Rotary but it is proposed to blend the
club and public activities and share facilities such as toilets and BBQ facilities. The area is proposed to be the
focal point for trails both aquatic and terrestrial but will also acknowledge the Noongar and European
(settler) cultural significance of the area. Additional parking is proposed and this will be where long vehicles
visiting the pool can turnaround using the loop layout of the car park. See drawing Minninup Pool Day Use
Area Upgrade – Master Plan –Rowing Club Precinct in which accompanies this report for the overall layout
and specific components of the proposal are discussed below.










Relocation of Minninup Road to the rear (north) of the building. This will require a new creek
crossing, removal of the existing septics behind the Rowing Club and removal of the pine trees Pinus
sp. east of the Rowing Club to enable the new road to re-join the existing road that continues on to
Kings Park.
The pine trees will be removed as they are introduced and contrast with the form and colour of the
existing vegetation, reducing naturalness. They also have potential to spread.
The open areas created by the removal of the pines will facilitate the development of a parking /
turnaround area that will also have set down facilities for paddlers and long vehicle parking. Access
to the Collie Kayak and Rowing Club shed will be integrated into the layout. Care will be taken to
protect and retain the many Christmas trees Nuytsia floribunda in the area.
A water point for use by fire trucks will be developed east of the old Rowing Club Shed foundations.
The existing parking area will be removed (except for sections that are retained as paths), and
converted to lawn for setting down paddle craft. New trees will be planted for shade and to ‘soften’
the area.
The foundations of the old Rowing Club will be paved and developed as a trail head and
interpretation node. A seat with arms, a disabled accessible picnic table, cycle racks and bins will all
be located in the vicinity.
The steep banks will be revegetated and the existing gently sloping area just to the west will be
retained as a beach for paddle craft launching and swimming, the sand will be replenished.
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The area around the fallen tree will be developed as a bush garden with local plants, possibly a
sitting log and a plaque telling the story of the tree.
A large skillion roofed shelter (approximately 4m x 12m) will be located west of the Rowing Club
building for use by club members and the public. It will have 2 picnic tables and a central BBQ
(disabled accessible) and possibly some panel walls for a community notice board.
The area at the front of the shed will be hard stand or similar for use by pop up commercial
operators such as coffee vans. There will be new picnic tables in this vicinity to complement the pop
up business and the BBQ shelter.
New toilets will be provided for use by club members and the public.
East of the trailhead picnic tables will be provided in open areas along the river’s edge adjacent to
the parking bays (keeping clear of the existing large blackbutt E. patens which could drop
branches).This will be a low key ‘bush’ area once the bush has returned after the pine tree removal.

L: Existing Rowing Club Building

R: Existing Rowing Club Foreshore looking east

2.9 Infrastructure Details
The proposed infrastructure has been selected primarily on the basis of being fit for purpose but other
reasons have also contributed to the selection of individual items including the following criteria.




Feasibility of being built locally.
Connection to other infrastructure used elsewhere in the SoC to give a cohesive aesthetic e.g. the
bins will be the same as used in the town centre, toilet and shelter styles are used elsewhere in the
region by DBCA.
Naturalness in terms of colour and materials and the ability to be unobtrusive.

Due to the preference for building locally two options (one locally built the other ‘off the shelf’) are provided
for some elements with the final selection to be made once the overall method of project implementation
and management has been determined.
2.9.1 Roads and Paths
All roads will be black asphalt and there will be a hierarchy of paths from red asphalt collector paths to
concrete paths of varying sizes to compacted shale or limestone and bush trails.
Road furniture will include concrete wheel stops, pine bollards, removable bollards and large yellow bollards
as required in various standards. The removable bollards (or possibly service access gates) will be able to
accommodate at least two padlocks so service vehicles can use one padlock and emergency vehicles another
padlock. Signage will be a mix of standard road signs, custom signs and totems see sign section.
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L: Typical parking with black asphalt, wheel stops and concrete collector path C: Low key road construction
with speed hump R: Pine bollards

L: Compacted limestone path

C: Black asphalt path

R: Existing Dual Use Path

2.9.2 Toilets and Shelters
Due to the preference for structures to be built locally the toilet and skillion roof shelter designs currently
being constructed by Department of Conservation and Biodiversity (DBCA) at Lake Kepwari are proposed to
be modified and used at Minninup Pool. Materials and colours will be adjusted to suit Minninup Pool.
Alternative suitable designs would be Landmark ‘off the shelf’ Peninsular shelter range and Caretaker
restrooms.

L: Lake Kepwari toilet

R: Lake Kepwari shelter, a smaller shelter is proposed for Minninup Pool
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2.9.3 Site Furniture
As there is a preference for naturalness some existing timber tables will be retained and there may be
variety among new tables, though all will have timber seats and metal frames.







Picnic settings - DBCA tables and benches can be built locally though Exteria Daintree settings which
come in standard and wheelchair accessible versions will also be acceptable. Most will have concrete
bases but some near trees may just have mulch.
Seats – as seats with backs and arms are requested Exteria Courtyard seats are recommended.
Plinth or table seats – of a DBCA design are proposed for informal areas such as at swimming decks.
Bins – Exteria Frankland bins will be used in groups of three bins.
BBQs – double plate electric BBQs will be used, at least one of which will be disabled accessible.
Bike racks – two styles one for expensive bikes to be attached by the seat, the other a wheel in one.

L: Exteria DA Picnic Table

C: Exteria seat with back and arms

L: DBCA style plinth seat

L: DBCA table without concrete base

R: Path for water’s edge and DBCA seat

C: Disabled accessible BBQ

R: Exteria Frankland bin

R: Wheel in bike rack
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2.9.4 Refurbishing Infrastructure
Where infrastructure has disintegrated such as the retaining walls in the terraced area this is to be
refurbished. Natural earth blocks are proposed for retaining walls and steps together with stainless steel
handrails or balustrades as required.

L: Natural earth retaining blocks

C: Stainless steel handrail

R: Concrete steps being reviewed

2.10 Planting
A variety of planting is proposed along the foreshore as follows and local provenance seed will be sourced in
good time to enable plants to be grown to a suitable size.





Shade trees – individual advanced trees will be planted in open areas for shade and amenity, jarrah
trees (Eucalyptus marginata) on the higher areas and paperbarks (Melaleuca preissiana) closer to
the river.
Low shrub planting of local species will be planted to give interest and enclosure to areas.
Foreshore areas will be temporarily fenced and revegetated with rushes and other fringing
vegetation.
Irrigated lawn areas of kikuyu cultivars will be established.

L – C: Local Shrub Species

RC – R: Rush species and protective fencing for the foreshore areas

2.11 Services
The community requested flushing toilets and as the area is a flood plain all sewage needs removing from
site either by sewer or carted out or processing on site. Power in some form is required for lighting, CCTV
(both required for security), pumps and irrigation and for BBQs, so as services are to be supplied to the
nearby accommodation the feasibility of extending the services to the foreshore was investigated. Council
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approved the extension of services to the Pool in November 2020, subject to funding and so proposals and
indicative costs have been prepared on the basis that these services are available.

2.12 Interpretation
Visitor interpretation is proposed for each of the three precincts and along the walk trails. There will be a
welcome feature at the main entry / arrival area and inclined panels at the interpretation nodes and along
the trails. There is also the option of developing QR codes to add to the interpretation presented on site. The
proposed structures and themes are identified below and require further discussion and approvals.
2.12.1 The Waugal and Proposed Interpretation Structures
A graphic theme depicting the Waugal has been developed by a graphic designer6 and discussed with the
Noongar Community, see below.

It is proposed this theme will be used in the graphic design for each panel and possibly etched, cut out or
applied to the vertical component of the panel structures.

L: Sketch of side and front of proposed panel structures (indicative only, sizes to change) R: Similar panel
6

Bunting Shaun, Tiger graphics 2020.
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The inclined panels at the nodes will have 800mm x 400mm panels and along the walk trails they will be
smaller with 400mm x 300mm panels. See above for the general form of the panels.
A welcome feature is proposed for the main arrival area (see below) and a bright colour scheme will be used
for all of the panels, though they will be different sizes, see below. The right hand panel also illustrates a
cheaper alternative structure (not requiring bespoke metalwork).

L: Indicative Welcome Feature
C: Typical trailside panel format
alternative structure and similar proposed bright colours.

R: Large panel format with an

2.12.2 Main Arrival / Welcome area
At the main entrance point from the new car park, near two distinctive jarrah trees and where there is
currently a picnic table, a large arrival welcome feature is proposed, similar to the one shown above approx.
2500h x 1500w x 500d.
The three proposed themes are:




Welcome to Minninup Pool – a special place for Kaniyang Wilman people and a sacred place; a place
that brings all people together.
Site and district orientation map.
The legend of the “Hairy Waugal” a huge mythological serpent which still inhabits Minninup Pool
(linear panel on the end).

2.12.3 Central Picnic Area
Between the Arrival Area and the Rowing Club a small interpretation node will be set adjacent to the main
path, near the central parking area. There will be an inclined panel 800mm x 400mm with the theme


Bird identification, wildfowl or feral? You are likely to see several species of wild waterfowl at
Minninup Unfortunately you also see many feral ducks that have invaded from the town site.

2.12.4 Bush Garden
A small bush garden is to be developed around the large tree lying on the foreshore and there will be an
inclined panel 800mm x 400mm possibly with the theme


Trees and their significance to Noongar people.
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2.12.5 Rowing Club
In the interpretation node / trailhead on the foundations of the old Rowing Club there will be two inclined
panels each 800mm x 400mm similar to one pictured above with the following themes.



‘Settler’s History’ Community history of sporting, picnics, and relaxation at Minninup. The story
behind the Roberts Rocks Weir and dedication of the reserve etc.
Inset – Commander Collie Surgeon on board H.M.S. Sulphur - part of convoy to found new colony of
Western Australia. Lived in Albany 1829-1835 made particular friends with Noongar man, Mokare.

There are also proposed fishing signs (a marron sign and freshwater angling) for this trailhead area and
liaison with the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) will be required
regarding format of these signs and who is responsible for them.
2.12.6 Lookout at the top of the Concrete Steps near the Main Pool
In this small space at the top of the steps will be an 800mm x 400mm inclined panel similar to one pictured
above with the following theme.


The sacred river Members of the Beelagu from the Wilman tribe visit Minninup Pool after the death
of a loved one to ask the serpent Waugal to accept the spirit of the deceased person and allow them
to rest at this place in the afterlife.

2.12.7 Sandy Beach
At the interpretation node adjacent to the path overlooking Sandy Beach there will be two inclined panels
each 800mm x 400mm similar to one pictured above with the following themes.



Noongar six seasons: Noongar people divide the year into six seasons, and they passed through this
area following the seasonal supply of food from the river. You can learn more about the seasons and
the seasonal food by following the bush walk trails.
The protein supermarket: food from the river - turtles, swamp chooks, marron, gilgies, mussels,
cobbler, eggs of ducks and other waterfowl.

2.12.8 Trailside Panels
Ten trailside panels will be provided along the Dual Use Path from Sandy Beach to Minninup Pool and along
the main Minninup Pool paths where there are suitable plants. A smaller panel 400mm x 300mm will be
used on a smaller structure see above. Possible themes are noted below and will be discussed further with
the Noongar community.


The moodjar tree (Nuytsia floribunda) commonly known as the Western Australian Christmas tree.
The moodjar or kaanya tree” - kaanya, meaning recently departed soul - is regarded as “highly
spiritual” because it was associated with the spirits of the dead.
 Jarrah, marri, banksia and other nectary plants. Nectar was obtained from the flowers and a sweet
drink was made from them.
 Bibool - Paperbark trees (Melaleuca sp) bedding, wrapping for transporting food, roofing mia mias
 Djiridji - zamia palm produce baio seeds: a food which required considerable preparation before it
could be eaten.
 Balga - grass tree (Xanthorrhoea) The resin from balga plants was used in spear making and as an
invaluable adhesive for Aboriginal people, the dried flower stalk scrape was also used to generate
fire, the leaves were used as roof material in mia mias.
 Woonil - WA Peppermint (Agonis sp) and other medicinal plants and smoking ceremony plants.
 Madja – edible root plants. Bloodroot, orchids etc. roots, bulbs and tubers were the main sources
of vegetable food, gathering these was a task for the women and children.
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Wattles and other seeds (Acacia sp.) seeds used for flour and damper.
Bardi grubs, yonga - kangaroo and other meats.
Kaarl boodja koorliny – burning country. Burning by the Noongar peoples occurred mainly during
occasional mild periods of the dry summer months of Birak and Bunuru (December to March). They
had a deep understanding of fire behaviour and ecosystem responses to fire.

2.12.9 QR Codes and off-site Interpretation
The Noongar culture community meeting proposed the use of QR codes to link phones to website content
enabling information of greater content depth and up to date accuracy to be made available to visitors.
Signage and panels can be a portal to an online experience that is easily updated and expandable. The link
could for example be hosted by the SoC and have more stories, audio clips and artwork.
Costs for QR codes all depend on how much you want to invest in quality content. To set up a supporting
static web page connected by QR code to give a quality extra content for say the ten trailside panels on
Noongar food may cost around $50,000 This gets two pages - one for desktop / tablet user and another for
the phone user. Populating it with more meaningful content – for example audio clips - makes it more
interesting but the unknown cost here is in preparing the content.
This work is beyond the scope of the current project but could be considered for development in the future.

2.13 Signage
2.13.1 Sign Style
It is proposed that the signage for Minninup Pool is based on the DBCA sign style but uses colours that are
specific to Minninup Pool. A suggested colour pallet is shown below and it is proposed that Woodland Grey
is added to this pallet and used for the backs of signs and in other situations where structures are to blend
in. This approach was used by the Shire of Augusta Margaret River at Alexandra Bridge, see below for signs
that are based on DBCA signs but use Shire of Augusta Margret River (SoAMR) colours and graphics.

L: Suggested colour pallet

R: Alexandra Bridge sign and vehicular totem – Modified DBCA signage

However trail associated signage is currently being developed by DBCA for use on Collie trails generally and
this signage should also be used on trails at Minninup Pool and so finalisiation of sign styles should probably
be deferred until the trail signage has been confirmed.
2.13.2 Range of Proposed Signs
The proposed range of signs is detailed below:
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Standard road signs on 3.2m long round galv. post with steel cap and brackets to attach sign
Customised process graphic sign 300mm x 400mm on 3.2m long round galv. post with steel cap and
brackets to attach sign.
Customised process graphic signs generally 300 x 400mm or 400 x 600mm either attached to a 1m
(above ground) galvanised post or to a nearby structure (e.g. River Risk sign on railings).
Standard Totem (750mm – 1000mm above ground, 200mm wide and approx. third in the ground,
set in concrete) with 150mm v 150mm symbol, suggested aluminium painted Woodland Grey colour.
Vehicle Totem (750mm – 1000mm above ground, 300mm wide and approx. third in the ground set
in concrete ) with 250mm x 250mm symbols suggested aluminium painted Woodland Grey colour.
Symbols – DBCA uses white on black and may be reflective in areas of night time use. A variety of
symbols are available from DBCA and sign manufacturers and these include graphics, numbers and
miniature road signs. If the symbol or message is not already available a graphic designer can
develop new symbols as required. No more than 4 symbols will be used on one sign and no more
than 2 of these will be negative.
Customised signs - they will be processed graphic using 1.6 aluminium digital print onto class 2
reflective vinyl with clearcoat for longevity and quality. All signs are to have the backs painted
Woodland Grey and round galvanised posts will also be painted Woodland Grey.
Two post customised signs – DBCA style aluminium 2 post sign with frame will be used for one off
signs such as site arrival signs (see picture above from Alexandra Bridge) and these signs will vary in
size depending on their content. The posts of the two post signs will likely be painted Woodland
Grey, but this will be confirmed by the graphic designer once the overall sign style has been
confirmed. The remainder of the frame that can only be seen from behind, will be Woodland Grey
no matter what colour the posts are.

The pictures below illustrate some of the signs that will likely be needed for the foreshore areas but these
will be developed in consultation with the SoC once the above sign style and range of signs has been
confirmed as suitable. The signs that will likely be required have been scoped and indicative costs provided
but the sign plan will need confirming at the detail design stage.

L: River Risk Signage required for river access points R: Signage to keep the water point accessible

2.14 Management
The proposed works will require some specific management actions and other increases in management and
maintenance are also likely including the following:
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Review of the Golf Course and Rotary Club leases as development is proposed to encroach on these
lease areas.
Fire management –a fire management plan is recommended to be prepared (by others) for the
reserve (not an allowances is included in the indicative cost estimates) and this may require
additional infrastructure. A new water point for filling fire trucks has already been requested and is
proposed for east of the Rowing Club. Fire managers will require a separate key for accessing locked
bollards etc.
Provision and maintenance of emergency access is required and St. John’s Ambulance will require a
separate key for accessing locked bollards etc. Provision of a defibrillator may also need considering.
Soft landscape management will increase including mowing and lawn maintenance and maintenance
of planting areas and new trees.
Overhead risk management – regular inspections and management of trees will be ongoing.
Management of river access structures will be ongoing – engineering checks of the structures and
underwater checks for submerged hazards (as water levels are controlled this is likely to less of an
issue than at some other wilder rivers).
Continuing management of water quality by monitoring at appropriate times will be needed to
reduce risk to swimmers.
Replenishing beach sand as required.
Regular servicing of facilities including toilet cleaning, rubbish removal, BBQ cleaning, etc.
Resources for paying for services such as power, sewer, water etc. will be required.
The increased levels of infrastructure will require ongoing maintenance (painting, oiling timber,
repairing etc.) and allowances for capital depreciation.
Enforcement of the no camping policy and monitoring for unruly behaviour will be required
including maintenance of the CCTV.
Monitoring and recording of visitor use levels (vehicle counts, trail counters etc.) is recommended to
assist with reviewing management actions and seeking future funds.
If QR codes are provided resources will be need to keep the associated information up to date and
current.

It is recommended the ongoing need for increased management and maintenance resources is
acknowledged and necessary resources are identified as part of the overall upgrades to the day use area.

3

Targeted Outcomes

The proposals aim to achieve some key outcomes from the overall development. These outcomes are
identified below together with the elements or initiatives that are to contribute to these outcomes.

3.1 Incorporation of Noongar Values and Aspirations
Noongar values and aspirations are supported with the provision of the following in the proposals:




Artwork – a Waugal entry sculpture is proposed and there are opportunities to develop Waugal
inspired seats, paving and interpretation structures, a preliminary meeting with an artist to scope
this project is recommended and preliminary funding allocated
Welcome / arrival area – to welcome visitors to this important Noongar place.
Yarning and storytelling opportunities – varied spaces proposed including a major yarning circle,
terraces near the pool, a small lookout near the concrete steps and lawn areas near the bush
garden.
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Sandy Beach Cultural Area – indicatively shown with yarning and display areas but development to
meet the needs of the local Noongar community. A preliminary funding allocation is included but
more may be required once the proposals are developed in detail.
Proposed cultural centre – beyond the scope of this project but a site has been identified.
Interpreted trails.
Incorporation of Noongar values into site design – selecting and locating infrastructure in association
with the Noongar community.
Minninup Pool / Collie River Cultural Advisory Group – as input from the Noongar Community will
continue to be integral to the development of proposals and management initiatives for Minninup
Pool the formation of a formal advisory group is recommended (and costed) that can guide future
development and management of the area.
Monitoring during construction – will be required and is allowed for in the indicative costings.

L: Yarning Circle, but Minninup will have lawn

R: Yarning circle with covered fire pit

3.2 Provision of Sustainable Access to the River
The river’s edge is currently degraded in a number of locations primarily due to the impacts of visitors but
also due to erosion caused by runoff from adjacent compacted and paved areas. The overall strategy is to
identify and where necessary ‘harden’ river access points for visitors and management and elsewhere
revegetate the foreshore and manage erosion. The specific provisions include the following:










Installing a pontoon – to provide a more challenging but low risk swimming opportunity. It will
require a bathymetry survey, hazard survey and removal and ongoing management of water
hazards.
Reviewing access and stabilisation of the foreshore and banks in the vicinity of the existing concrete
stairs. Proposals still being developed.
Replenishing the beach below the terraces.
Providing two sets of wide steps to access the river and be used for sitting and chatting.
Replenishing the gently sloping sections of beach near the Rowing Club and revegetating the steep
sections. Stormwater will also be managed to prevent further erosion.
Providing a hardened water point with access stairs for filling fire trucks.
Restricting vehicle access to Sandy Beach so sections of the foreshore can regenerate while others
remain sandy providing access to the river.
Increasing the water retention capacity of surrounding parkland by managing compaction.
Managing stormwater and runoff from parking areas so it passes through vegetated drainage lines,
sumps or swales.
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L: Foreshore erosion evident at low water levels R: Swimming access decks similar to those proposed

3.3 Increase the Capacity of the Foreshore Areas
Due to continued use of the area by the local community, likely increases in use due to the connections to
trails, use of the area by visitors to the proposed nearby camping and accommodation areas and possible
increases in day visitation the development proposals aim to increase the overall capacity of the foreshore
areas. The proposals to achieve this include the following:




Relocating roads back from the foreshore areas and providing parking on the foreshore side of these
roads, so visitors have direct access to the foreshore but there are more areas free of vehicles for
recreational use.
Organising parking to maximise the number of vehicles that can be parked in a given area.
Providing quality trails and associated facilities such as bike racks so visitors are encouraged to
access the area on foot or cycle to reduce vehicle parking pressures.

3.4 Maintaining Naturalness
This key community aspiration will be achieved by the following proposals:








Maintaining and enhancing existing vegetation where feasible and planting new trees, shrubs and
foreshore vegetation.
Particularly managing trees to sustain them into the future.
Removing incongruous elements such as the pine trees.
Setting structures into the landscape amongst other landscape elements and keeping them as small
scale and simple as is feasible.
Using natural forms, lines, colours and textures where feasible, particularly curvilinear lines and
breaking up large expanses of grass or bitumen with areas of mulch or plantings.
Minimising road design standards so the roads blend into the environment, particularly minimising
the use of kerbs.
Using low levels of night lighting.

3.5 Maintaining a Variety of Recreation Activities
The proposals contain a variety of provisions for recreation activities as follows:


Swimming, the most popular activity will have sustainable access to the river at Sandy Beach and the
pool and the new pontoon should provide new swimming opportunities.
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Relaxing, enjoying the view and the peace and quiet is supported by setting vehicles back from the
river while still maintaining views from vehicles over the pool and providing seats along trails and
paths.
Picnicking, relaxing or celebrating with family and friends, and informal nature play is supported with
irrigated grass, tree management and with the additional picnic tables, BBQs and shelters.
Kayaking/canoeing/paddle boarding is provided for with increased lawn areas outside the Rowing
Club, set down bays, increased long vehicle parking and a wide access path at Sandy Beach.
Photography, bird watching and interest in wildflowers are sustained with the emphasis on retaining
naturalness, interpretation, increased foreshore vegetation, provision of new planting areas and
more trails in the bush.
Bike riding and walking may increase with the new trails and there will be provision for dogs (clean
up bags and bins).
School excursions, events etc. will have larger areas free of vehicles and open grassed areas near
shelters may provide areas for specific activities and gatherings or just facilitate informal kicks of the
footy or hit and run cricket.

3.6 Increasing Access for the Less Able
Better disabled access was requested and with an aging population there is a focus on making all
infrastructure more accessible. Specific provisions include the following proposals:








Provision of disabled accessible parking bays and toilets.
Aligning parking so there are views to the foreshore from cars where feasible.
Providing a new path at disabled grades to access the beach below the terraces.
Providing handrails where required (steps, swimming structures etc.).
Investigating a wheelchair ramp to access the river at Sandy Beach.
Providing wheelchair accessible shelters, picnic tables and BBQs.
Providing some seats with arms and paved areas beside for wheelchairs to park.

3.7 Providing Amenity
The amenity of the foreshore will be sustained or improved with the following proposals:





Replacement or upgrading of existing aging infrastructure such as the terraces, new bins and
flushing toilets.
Provision of new facilities such as barbecues and irrigated lawn areas.
Provision of new shade shelters and new tree plantings to provide more shade long term.
Provision of lighting and CCTV to enhance a feeling of safety and security.

3.8 Managing Visitor Risk
Proposals aim to mitigate identified visitor risks with the particularly significant risks noted below:





Pedestrian / speeding vehicles conflict – vehicles speed along the existing roads and this will be
managed by separating vehicle and pedestrian areas, road geometry, speed humps, etc.
Recreationist / manoeuvring vehicle conflict – vehicles will generally be excluded from areas where
children are likely to be playing.
Overhead hazard risk – the risk of falling branches will be mitigated by an ongoing tree management
program.
River risks – will be mitigated by providing low risk swimming opportunities and ensuring there is
ongoing management for these structures including maintenance and checking for underwater
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hazards. Also signage and information will advise of the risks and how to avoid them and water
quality monitoring will continue.
Dog risks – signage will advise dog owners of their responsibilities.
Heat risks – shade shelter and trees are proposed and water will be available from the toilet blocks.

3.9 Minimising the Pressures on Management Resources
The increased provision of facilities will require additional servicing and maintaining by the shire and this will
require additional resources as noted in section 2.12. Some strategies for managing ongoing costs have
been included in the proposals as follows:





High quality materials (which are often more expensive) such as stainless steel railings and vandal
resistant finishes to interpretation panels, will be used to reduce ongoing maintenance costs.
Advice will be sought from SoC managers on how to simplify maintenance such as enabling mowers
to access spaces, providing necessary service vehicle access, locating bins where they can be easily
emptied, using electric rather than gas BBQs, etc.
Providing an automatic irrigation system and pumping water from the river to reduce ongoing water
costs.
Providing a new mower as part of the capital costs of the project.

However it needs acknowledging there will be significant ongoing increases in maintenance resources
required with the increased level of infrastructure and servicing proposed.

4

Indicative Costs

4.1 Introduction
The cost estimates should at best be considered indicative as they are based on very preliminary quantities
and general rates. The project has evolved with a higher level of infrastructure being provided than was
initially envisaged and although in general, suppliers have provided prices for this infrastructure provision,
these were only ever requested to be indicative. It is recommended that the SoC engage a quantity surveyor
to confirm cost estimates for detailed funding applications and before quotes or tenders are called for
construction. It is also understood contractors and consultants are becoming very busy with the current
increase in construction projects and this may further influence prices.

4.2 Indicative Costs
Table 2 Indicative Costs Ex. GST
Item

Comment

Cost Ex GST

WHOLE OF PROJECT/PREPARATORY COSTS
Project Management
Project manager
Construction supervisor
Obtaining approvals
Ongoing Noongar Input and Management
Monitors during construction
Collie River Aboriginal Reference Group or similar
Noongar Art Project – scoping meeting with art
consultant to identify projects to be worked on.

10% of Project cost, see cost summary

For 2 years

$25,000
$12,000
$5,000
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River Investigations
Bathymetry Survey
Detailed underwater assessment by divers
Removal of debris as required.
Design drawings and fabrication drawings of structures
Services
Water and sewer delivered to precincts between
$1.525m - $1.514m
NB Connection costs to outlets to be included in cost of
structure e.g. toilet

Power delivery to precincts
Between $493k - $659k - $628k
Electrical distribution and lighting

CCTV
Irrigation – supply, construct and commission

Detail Design
Road design and hard and soft landscape design
Preparation of new construction drawings for toilet and
shelter based on DBCA designs
Graphic design - signs
QR Codes for 10 trailside plaques, no audio

$8,000
$5,000
$20,000
$20,000

Of total cost water reticulation costs to
Sandy Beach
Minninup Pool and Rowing
Club
Consultancy fees
Of total cost sewer reticulation costs
to
- Sandy Beach
- Minninup Pool and Rowing Club
Consultancy fees
Of total cost power costs extension to
the precincts is between $233k - $293k
- $336k excluding environmental costs
Design Fees
Sandy Beach - Power and Lighting
Minninup Pool – Power and Lighting
Rowing Club – Power and Lighting
If power not available add another
$45k for solar power
Design to be included as design and
construct.

$20,000

$60,000
$90,000
$20,000
Say
$250, 000
$15,000
$62,000
$158,000
$134,000
$140,000
$130,000

Generally covered by existing contract
$5,000
$3,000
$50,000

Other
Seed Collection for propagation of local provenance
plants
New mower for grass areas
Fire management plan

$5,000
$30,000
$10,000
SUBTOTAL

SANDY BEACH (INCLUDING SANDY BEACH ROAD
UPGRADE)
Weed removal (by Shire)
Basic Engineering costs - Protective barriers for trees,
clearing, earthworks, pavement construction, kerbing,
humps, paths, drainage, line marking
Paths (included in above engineering costs) – Dual Use

$50,000
$60,000

$1,387,000

$8,000
$377,000
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(2.5m), collector (1.5m), compacted limestone and
service access
Canoe launch ramp
Wheelchair swimming access
Specialist tree works
Bollards, barriers and gates – supply and install
Signs – design, supply and install
Interpretation – design, supply and install
Toilets – Cubicles - 2 Unisex DA and 2 unisex ambulant,
supply and install, Lake Kepwari style
Shelters – 2 x skillion, medium size 6m x 4m supply and
install
Furniture – supply and install, bins, BBQ, picnic settings
(DA and standard), dog waste bag dispenser and cycle
racks
Planting – advanced trees (paperbarks), foreshore
rehabilitation, tidy up mulching and dry grass
Cultural Area

MINNINUP POOL PRECINCT
Weed removal (by Shire)
Basic Engineering - Protective barriers for trees, clearing,
earthworks, pavement construction, kerbing, humps,
paths, drainage, line marking
Paths (most included in above engineering costs) – Dual
Use (2.5m), Black asphalt (3m) collector (1.5m),
Wheelchair accessible beachside path, service access,
links to informal MTB trails
Yarning Circle
Terraces –walls, steps and handrails
Lookouts and other masonry structures, including
stepping stones
River Access Structures – refurbishment of concrete steps
area, beach replenishment, 2 x swimming access stairs,
pontoon
Toilets – 2 Unisex DA and 2 unisex ambulant, supply and
install, Lake Kepwari style
Shelters – skillion 1 small and 1 large, Lake Kepwari style

Specialist tree works
Bollards, barriers and gates – supply and install
Signs – design, supply and install
Interpretation – design, supply and install
Entry Sculpture
Furniture – supply and install, bins, BBQ, picnic settings
(DA and standard), seats with backs and arms, custom

Appendix 3

Compacted limestone say
2m wide concrete path approx. 25m
Handrail stainless steel

Alternative is Landmark Caretaker
approx. $90,000
Lake Kepwari style TBA
Landmark Peninsular $16,000

$1,000
$5,000
$10,000
$25,000
$20,000
$13,000
$17,000
$110,000

$32,000
$105,000

$44,000
To be developed by Noongar
community, allow $50,000 to start
SUBTOTAL

$50,000
$817,000

$2,000
$403,000

Extras - low walls either side at
culverts/creeks $3,000
Stainless steel handrail along
wheelchair ramp $20,000
Links to informal MTB trails $1,000
Sitting logs and fire pit

$24,000

$10,000
$40,500
$22,000
$245,000

Alternative is Landmark Caretaker
approx. $90,000
Lake Kepwari style TBA
Landmark Peninsular $13,000 and
$23,000

DPIRD signs not included
Includes welcome feature $22,000
Costs depend on scale $80 - $200,000

$110,000
$36,000

$48,000
$26,000
$11,500
$57,500
$120,000
$105,500
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seat for lookout, dog waste bag dispenser and cycle racks
Planting – advanced trees (jarrah and paperbarks), low
shrub planting, foreshore rehabilitation, tidy up mulching
and turf areas.

Note Establishing turf 2,500m2 @
$22/m2 = $55,000
SUBTOTAL

ROWING CLUB PRECINCT
Weed removal (by Shire) including removing pines
Basic Engineering - Protective barriers for trees, Clearing,
earthworks, pavement construction, kerbing, humps,
paths, drainage, line marking
Paths (included in above engineering costs) –Black
asphalt (3m) collector (1.5m), service access, trailhead
node.
Landscape construction – old boatshed foundation,
reshaping beach and logs for bush garden
River Access – beach replenishment and water point
construction
Toilets – 2 Unisex DA and 2 unisex ambulant, supply and
install, Lake Kepwari style
Shelters – 1 large, Lake Kepwari style
Specialist tree works
Bollards, barriers and gates – supply and install
Signs – design, supply and install
Interpretation – design, supply and install
Furniture – supply and install, bins, Disabled Accessible
BBQ, picnic settings (DA and standard), seat with back
and arm, dog waste bag dispenser and cycle racks
Planting – advanced trees (paperbarks), low shrub
planting (Bush Garden), foreshore rehabilitation, tidy up
mulching and turf areas.

$95,000

$1,356,000

$10,000
$335,000

$5,000
$25,000
Alternative is Landmark Caretaker
approx. $90,000
Lake Kepwari style TBA
Landmark Peninsular and $23,000

$110,000
$23,000
$45,000
$12,000
$9,500
$22,000
$84,500

Note Establishing turf 1,500m2 @
$22/m2 = $33,000
SUBTOTAL

$43,500

$724,500

Table 3 Summary of Total Project Costs Ex GST
Preparatory
Subtotals
10% Project Management
10% Contractor Overheads
20% Contingency

$1,387,000
$138,700
$138,700
$277,400
$1,941,800

Sandy Beach
Precinct
$817,000
$81,700
$81,700
$163,400
$1,143,800

Minninup Pool
Precinct
$1,356,000
$135,600
$135,600
$271,200
$1,898,400

Rowing Club
Precinct
$724,500
$72,450
$72,450
$144,900
$1,014,300

GRAND TOTAL

$5,998,300 Ex GST

4.3 Works Staging
The costs have been broken down into the separate precincts with a ‘whole of project’ section which mostly
consists of necessary preparatory works. Provision of power, water and electricity are a major part of the
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preparatory works as they need to be installed preferably before road and path construction to avoid digging
up newly laid surfaces. They are also required for toilets, BBQs etc.
If items such as road construction are staged according to separate precincts it will be more expensive
overall due to extra mobilisation costs for each stage.
Components of the project that could be implemented relatively independently of other works include the
following.






Installing the pontoon.
Installing the swimming access steps and associated foreshore stabilisation (though local provenance
plants may take time to source).
Possibly undertaking restoration works in the vicinity of the existing concrete steps.
Arboricultural work – particularly managing many of the existing trees and spreading mulch on their
root zones.
New picnic shelter near the Rowing Club (once adjustments have been made to the Rowing Club
lease).
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South West Development Commission, December 2019
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PS Ref: 6590
7 July 2020
Planning Department
Shire of Collie
Via email: colshire@collie.wa.gov.au

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION - WOODYARD
LOT 1 COLLIE RIVER SCENIC DRIVE, COLLIE
Planning Solutions acts on behalf of Smargiassi Nominees Pty Ltd, the registered proprietor of
Lot 1 Collie River Scenic Drive, Collie (subject site). This letter accompanies a development
application for a woodyard on the subject site, which once operational, will bring further
employment opportunities to the Collie region, upskilling of local employees and further
diversification of recycled timber products for sale locally.

1.

The Shire’s Application for Development Approval Form, signed by applicant/landowner.

2.

The Shire’s Planning Application Checklist, signed by the applicant.

3.

Development plans depicting the proposed development.

We understand this development application attracts a fee of $640 under the Shire’s Schedule
of Planning Fees Planning and Development Regulations 2009 2018 / 2019. The application fee
will be paid by the proponent in person at the time of lodgement.
The following submission discusses various matters pertaining to the proposal, including:
•

Site details

•

Background

•

Proposal

•

Town planning considerations

1

SITE DETAILS

1.1

Legal description

The subject site is legally described as “Lot 1 on Diagram 84144”, being the whole of the land
contained within Certificate of Title Volume 2009 Folio 382, and has a total area of 3.5427ha.
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admin@planningsolutions.com.au
www.planningsolutions.com.au
ACN 143 573 184 ABN 23 143 573 184
Planning Solutions (Aust) Pty Ltd

With regard to the above, please find enclosed:

Level 1, 251 St Georges Tce, Perth WA
(08) 9227 7970
GPO Box 2709
Cloisters Square PO 6850

Dear Sir/Madam,

Appendix 6

1.2

Appendix 6

Site context

The subject site is within the municipality of the Shire of Collie (Shire), which is located approximately
50km east of the Bunbury city centre. More specifically, the subject site is in the locality of Collie, and is
approximately 4km southwest of the Collie town centre. The subject site gains access from the Collie
town centre via Mungalup Road and Collie River Scenic Drive.
The subject site is located in an area characterised by rural activities (including agriculture and light
industry) and bushland. An industrial complex is located 1km to the east of the subject site at the corner
of Mungalup Road and Collie River Scenic Drive. The Westralia Conservation Park is located to the north
of the subject site.
Refer Figure 1 for an aerial photograph depicting the subject site and its immediate surroundings.
1.3

Land use and topography

The subject site is developed with a caretakers’ dwelling and a number of structures and improvements
to the land associated with the subject site’s historical and ongoing use for industrial purposes.
The subject site slopes up from the Collie River in the southern corner of the subject site, with a highpoint in the northwestern corner of the subject site. There is a fall of approximately 20m across the subject
site. The site has been worked into a series of level tiers separated by concrete retaining walls and
embankments, with an upper tier adjacent to Collie River Scenic Drive including the workshop and office
building, a middle tier below the workshop, and a lower tier on the land furthest from Collie River Scenic
Drive. Access roads at the ends of each tier allow access between tiers and between the entry and exit
gates.
Beyond the subject site, land slopes upwards to the west, and approaching from the west there are
commanding views over the subject site to the Collie River valley.
2

BACKGROUND

The subject site was developed with a concrete batching plant that operated from 1970 until its cessation
in 2003.
The subject site was developed from 1970 for a variety of light industrial purposes including a concrete
batching plant which ceased operations in 2003. The owners carried on with coal and sawdust
processing, and then sold the business to the current owner as an operating light industrial site in 2008.
On 8 August 2006 the Shire granted development approval for a light industry use (engineering,
fabrication and earthmoving services) on the subject site.
3

PROPOSAL

The proposal seeks approval for a woodyard for the sale and distribution of wood and timber products.
Specifically, the proposal comprises new and used wood and timber being delivered to the site, the
processing and engineering of the wood and timber into new timber products including pallets and
polished jarrah crosses, the short-term storage of timber products pending processing and sale, and the
sale and distribution of reengineered timber and timber products to clients in the building and industrial
industries.
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Refer to the site plan at Attachment 1 showing the layout of the proposed woodyard.
The woodyard will make use of the existing joinery / workshop building on the upper tier.
A new 24m x 12m, 10m-high steel shelter open on one side is proposed on the middle tier. This shelter
allows processing of timber to occur under shelter, out of the elements. Refer to the building plans
included at Attachment 1.
The woodyard will operate during standard hours and may employ up to five staff on site at any one time.
Up to three of the employees will be required to manage and produce useable products from recyclable
timber. One caretaker will reside permanently on site to deter any opportunities for theft and any other
risks. One truck driver will be required to bring in materials from local industries and deliver to purchasers
across the south west of Western Australia.
Skills of employees will be enhanced over time to ensure growth and further diversification of timber
products for sale locally.
Machinery used on site includes a table saw, a thicknesser / planer and a band saw used for the breaking
down and recycling of waste timber.
The woodyard will not accept visitors other than clients and by appointment only. Provision is made for
visitors to park near the caretakers’ dwelling.
4

TOWN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

4.1

State Planning Policy 3.7: Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas

The subject site is identified as being within a bushfire prone area pursuant to Department of Fire and
Emergency Services mapping, and is therefore subject to the provisions of State Planning Policy 3.7
Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas (SPP3.7).
The WAPC’s Planning Bulletin 111/2016 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas states:
Exemptions from the requirements of SPP 3.7 and the deemed provisions should be applied
pragmatically by the decision maker. If the proposal does not result in the intensification of
development (or land use), does not result in an increase of residents or employees; or does not
involve the occupation of employees on site for any considerable amount of time, then there may
not be any practicable reason to require a BAL Assessment. Exemptions may apply to
infrastructure including roads, telecommunications and dams; and to rural activities, including
piggeries and chicken farms which do not involve employees on site for a considerable amount of
time.
The subject site has been used for industrial purposes since the 1970s, including concrete batching, coal
and sawdust processing, and the fabrication and engineering of flanges and other metal products
(amongst various other uses the property has been put to over time). The buildings on the subject site
include office, meal room, and amenities for staff, and a dwelling lived in by an on-site caretaker.
The current application seeks to use the existing buildings and facilities. It does not intensify those
activities; rather it repurposes the buildings and site for used which are similar to and not more intensive
than the historical uses of the site.
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For the above reasons, the proposal does not warrant further investigations under SPP3.7.
4.2 Shire of Collie Local Planning Scheme No. 5
The Shire’s Local Planning Scheme No.5 (LPS5) applies to the subject site. LPS5 is supplemented by
the Deemed Provisions contained in Schedule 2 of the Planning and Development (Local Planning
Schemes) Regulations 2015.
The general aim, as set out in clause 1.6.1 of LPS5, is as follows:
The local government’s general aim is to improve the aesthetic appeal of the Collie townships,
safeguard its natural resources, (which include mineral, hydrological and ecological), whilst
promoting sustainable development through diversified residential, agricultural, tourist and
resource based economic activities.
The proposal involves the repurposing and reengineering of timber products, reducing waste and
extending the life of existing products. This reduces the need to rely on forestry to supply new timber
products, and therefore contributes to sustainable outcomes in the building and industrial industries.
The subject site is zoned ‘Rural 1’ pursuant to the provisions of LPS5. Pursuant to clause 4.11.1 of the
LPS5, the objective for the Rural 1 zone is:
•

To provide for the sustainable use of land for a range of rural pursuits which are compatible
with the capability of the land and retain the rural character and amenity of the locality.

•

To provide that subdivision and development activities that generate/propose alternative and
incompatible landuse should not be permitted.

•

To provide for the retention and protection of portions of land within that Zone that are not
cleared and that are valuable to the rural and natural landscape values and ecological
systems of the District.

The proposal is consistent with the above zone objectives as it provides for a use that involves the
processing and sale of a rural product (timber) and which is compatible with the existing and future
amenity of the locality having regard to the historical uses of the subject site and surrounding areas.
The primary function of the proposal is the sale and distribution of timber products, with the activities of
processing, storage and administration as supportive, but ultimately subservient, means to that end. This
is because timber cannot be sold without first undertaking some processing of that timber to restore it
and bring it up to a saleable standard to meet customer requirements, and without the sale of timber
there would be no purpose to the proposal. The proposal is accordingly best classified as a ‘wood yard’
under LPS5, defined as:
“woodyard” means a premises used for the sale or distribution of wood and timber products
including fire wood;
A wood yard is an ‘A’ use in the Rural 1 zone under LPS5, meaning the use is not permitted unless the
Shire has exercised its discretion by granting development approval after the application has been
advertised in accordance with clause 64 of the Deemed Provisions.
Having regard to the zone objectives and land use permissibility, the proposal warrants approval.
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Schedule 11 of LPS5 prescribes the applicable development standards and requirements for the light
industry zone. An assessment against the applicable development standards are outlined in the table
below.
Table 1 – Site, development and car parking standards
Development Standard

Provided

Car parking – light industry

Development Requirement
To be determined by the local
government

Complies?

There is ample space available on the
subject site for the parking of cars.

✓

Minimum front setback

30m

✓

Minimum side setback

15m

Approx. 80m to Collie River Scenic Drive
Approx 35m to the western lot boundary

Minimum rear setback

30m

Other general development standards set out in LPS5 are addressed in Table 2 below.
Table 2 – Other LPS5 development standards
Clause

Required

Provided

5.11 Access
for
loading
and unloading
of vehicles

(a) Provision shall be made for service access
to the rear or side of a shop, industry,
showroom, restaurant or other commercial
use for the purpose of loading or unloading
of goods except where alternative access,
as considered acceptable by the local
government, is provided.

Access is provided around the
workshop building.

✓

The proposal includes an entry and
exit allowing vehicles to enter and
leave in a forward gear.

✓

Manoeuvring of vehicles will be
managed by the site manager to
ensure no conflict occurs between
vehicles, consistent with the intent of
clause 5.11(b) of LPS5.

✓

Customer parking is separated from
areas used by service vehicles.

✓

(b) Service access shall be provided in
accordance with the following:
(i) The access shall be constructed so
that vehicles using it may leave and
return to a street in a forward gear
unless otherwise agreed to by the
local government.
(ii) Where a right of way or rear lane is
to be used for service access, a
paved area shall be provided on
the lot so that when loading or
unloading occurs, the vehicle does
not obstruct other vehicles. In the
event that the access way does not
provide for through traffic, the paved
area required by this clause shall be
of a sufficient area to enable vehicles
to turn so as to return to the road in
forward gear.
(iii) Insofar as is practical, the service
access shall be designed so as to
segregate service vehicles, both
moving and stationary, from parking
areas and access ways provided for
customer parking.

Complies?
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Clause

Required

Provided

5.11.7
Landscaping

(a) The landscaping requirements shown in
Schedule 11 “Site, Development and Car
Parking Requirements” or referred
elsewhere in the Scheme, means an open
area designed, developed and maintained
as garden planting and areas for
pedestrian use. At the discretion of the
local government, natural bushland,
swimming pools and areas under covered
ways may be included in calculating the
provision of landscaping. Garbage
collection and handling spaces and other
open storage areas shall not be included in
such calculation.

The development will maintain all
existing landscaping on the subject
site.

Complies?
✓

Clause 5.9.1 of LPS5 provides the following additional consideration:
In considering any rezoning, subdivision or development within the Rural 1 zone the local
government will have regard to whether the proposal may prejudice current or potential agricultural
activities and production within the zone.
Due to the current and historical uses the subject site has been put to and the buildings, structures, and
works undertaken on the subject site, the site is not suitable for agricultural uses. It will therefore not
prejudice any agricultural activities or production within the zone.
Clause 67 of the Deemed Provisions sets out the matters which shall be considered when contemplating
applications for development approval. Considerations of relevant matters are set out in Table 3 below.
Table 3 – Relevant matters to be considered
Matters to be considered

Response

(a) the aims and provisions of this Scheme and any
other local planning scheme operating within the
Scheme area;

Refer consideration of the LPS5 aims and provisions in this
section above.

(b) the requirements of orderly and proper planning
including any proposed local planning scheme or
amendment to this Scheme that has been
advertised under the Planning and Development
(Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 or any
other proposed planning instrument that the local
government is seriously considering adopting or
approving;

Refer section 4.3 below.

(c) any approved State planning policy;

Refer section 4.1 above.

(m) the compatibility of the development with its setting
including the relationship of the development to
development on adjoining land or on other land in
the locality including, but not limited to, the likely
effect of the height, bulk, scale, orientation and
appearance of the development;

This application seeks a change to the types of industrial uses
which have historically occurred on the subject site, and does
not affect the compatibility of the development with its setting.

(n) the amenity of the locality including the following —
(i) environmental impacts of the development;
(ii) the character of the locality;
(iii) social impacts of the development;

The proposal will not have any adverse impact on the amenity
of the area.
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Matters to be considered

Response

(p) whether adequate provision has been made for the
landscaping of the land to which the application
relates and whether any trees or other vegetation on
the land should be preserved;

All existing landscaping on the subject site will be retained.
Additional landscaping of batters will provide further screening,
breaking up the view to the subject site as viewed from the west.

(s) the adequacy of —
(i) the proposed means of access and egress from
the site; and
(ii) arrangements for the loading, unloading,
manoeuvring and parking of vehicles;

Refer to Table 2 above.

(w) the history of the site where the development is to
be located;

The subject site has been used for industrial purposes since
1970, and in 2006 development approval was granted by the
shire for light industry uses.

(zb) any other planning consideration the local
government considers appropriate.

.

4.3

Draft Local Planning Scheme No.6

On 1 October 2019, the Council resolved to proceed to advertise its draft Local Planning Scheme No.6
(draft LPS6) which will replace LPS5.
The subject site is zoned Rural under the draft LPS6, with the northeast corner being within Special
Control Area 4 – Basic Raw Materials (Coal Basin) (SCA4).
The draft LPS6 objectives for the Rural zone include the following:
•

To provide for a range of non-rural land uses where they have demonstrated benefit and
are compatible with surrounding rural uses.

The proposed use is acceptable having regard to this objective.
Draft LPS6 does not retain the LPS5 use classification of woodyard. Instead, the proposal is best
classified as a resource recovery centre under LPS5, defined as follows:
resource recovery centre means premises other than a waste disposal facility used for the
recovery of resources from waste
Resource recovery centre is an ‘A’ use in the Rural zone under draft LPS6, meaning the use is capable
of being approved after it has been advertised.
The draft LPS4 provisions for SCA4 require development applications to be referred to the Department
of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety and other authorities where appropriate.
Having due regard to the provisions of the draft LPS6, the proposed development warrants approval.
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CONCLUSION

In light of the above considerations, the proposed use of the subject site for a woodyard is consistent with
the historical use of the subject site. Further, the proposal addresses the relevant considerations set out
in the planning framework. Accordingly the proposal warrants approval on its merits.
We respectfully request we are invited to attend any committee or Council meeting at which this
application is considered.
Should you have any queries or require further clarification in regard to the above matter please do not
hesitate to contact the writer.
Yours faithfully

PP:
_________________________
ROSS UNDERWOOD
ASSOCIATE
200707 6590 development application cover letter (woodyard)
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ATTACHMENT 1
DEVELOPMENT PLANS
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PS Ref: 6590
9 October 2020
Robert Quinn
Shire Planner
Shire of Collie
Via email: colshire@collie.wa.gov.au ; robert.quinn@collie.wa.gov.au

Level 1, 251 St Georges Tce, Perth WA
(08) 9227 7970
GPO Box 2709
Cloisters Square PO 6850

Dear Robert,
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION - WOODYARD
LOT 1 COLLIE RIVER SCENIC DRIVE, COLLIE

•

What type of restoration, re-engineering, processing and reclamation of timber is
proposed?

•

Please advise of timber products which will be brought on-to the site for processing.

•

What portion of the land use will be used as processing and value adding timber for resale using the wood-working tools, thicknesser/planer, band saw, table saw ?

•

Please advise of how the existing joinery/workshop building will be used in this proposal.

•

Please advise of activities and uses proposed in the shed/shelter.

•

What timber products produced on-site will be offered for sale and distributed from the site?

•

What is going to occur with the current materials being stored on-site?

admin@planningsolutions.com.au
www.planningsolutions.com.au
ACN 143 573 184 ABN 23 143 573 184
Planning Solutions (Aust) Pty Ltd

We refer to the development application dated 7 July 2020 for a woodyard for the sale and
distribution of timber products at Lot 1 Collie River Scenic Drive, Collie (subject site), and the
Shire’s email request for additional information dated 4 August 2020, the on-site meeting of
6 August 2020 attended by Andrew Dover, Ross Underwood, David Churches and Kerry Roberts,
and the Shire’s further email request for additional information on 11 September 2020. The latter
email requested the following information:

After conferring with our client, we are pleased to provide the following additional information to
supplement the description of proposed activities in the development application.
Description of proposed activities
It is proposed to sell and distribute wood and timber products from the subject site. Timber products
will be generally made to order but commonly include the following:
•

Trusses

•

Beams

•

Picture frames made from reclaimed timber (for example, burnt edged frames like the one
hanging up in the football club, rustic frames, etc).

•

Tables
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•

Cubby houses in kit form

•

Products made from recycled pallets, to reduce the amount of pallet materials going to landfill

•

All manner of furniture

•

Toys

This list is not intended to be definitive. Orders are bespoke and taken on a case-by-case basis, and the list
of potential timber products to be sold is limited only by the imagination of the customer, the availability of
materials, and any technological limitations to the reengineering of timber.
The proposed steel shelter in the middle tier will be used for the repair and construction of timber pallets from
new and recycled materials. Refer to the attached floor plan showing an indicative layout of the shelter.
If it can be determined that a market can be had for recycled timber fibre then any unused pallet material can
be ground to make such product.
Both the existing workshop on the upper tier and the proposed shelter on the middle tier will be used wholly
for the sale and distribution of the timber products.
Customers include local industry, builders, and the general public. Industrial and builder customers are known
through existing contacts and networks. Advertising to the general public will typically be undertaken through
online through social media and via word of mouth.
The timber products will be delivered direct to the customer, who will place an order via phone / email and
pay via bank transfer or other means. Customers will not need to visit the site to place an order or pay.
Type of timber used
The timber brought on-site will predominately be used previously (this is the case for the timber currently kept
on-site in the upper tier). Some pieces will have been used many times. A large selection of new ‘old growth’
timber which is currently stored off-site for processing can be brought on site as needed.
Timber beams (to support wall removal) will mainly require the use of new timber, including jarrah, karri, and
blackbutt.
The initial percentages will be high towards recycled timber products until products are established, upon
which a product of new timber would be made to order.
There are over 100 different species of timber from which a replacement piece for a restoration could be
prepared.
Timber processing
The sale and distribution of the timber products will usually require some form of preparation, as the timber
products are made to order.
The bulk of the preparation of the timber product will be performed in the existing workshop.
As trusses will be one service offered, many smaller pieces of timber can be joined to make a larger truss
from new or recycled timber. The reengineered timber is stress-graded to confirm its suitability for the desired
end use.
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The pallets that arrive in a state of disrepair may be dismantled for parts and used to provide repairs for other
pallets. The pallets to be processed will be separated by an air powered reverse press, graded and processed.
The “engineering” of timber refers to the process of the machining of timber to create a new product, and
including testing of products to confirm its strength and suitability for their end use.
Machinery
The preparation of timber products in the existing workshop will involve machinery such as general
woodworking/ joinery shop equipment.
It is proposed that the steel shelter will house air driven tools and as such will have an electric driven air
compressor. An overhead crane will be installed in the workshop to assist with the loading, unloading, and
moving of pallets and pallet materials.
There will be forklift/s and mini excavator machinery as well as delivery, generally by truck, of material in and
material out.
A tub grinder may become inevitable for dealing with off-cuts which cannot be otherwise recycled. It will be
necessary if a market can be found for recycled timber fibre.
Benefits
The pallet recycling train will be providing jobs for locals as there is a large labour component in the whole
operation.
The proposal also benefits the Shire by reusing timber that would otherwise go into landfill. This helps to
reduce waste and extend the life of the landfill.
Most pertinently, the granting of an approval will allow the subject site to be restored by providing a legitimate
and revenue-generating use of the land. This will provide the owner with certainty that the land can be
legitimately used and consequently allow maintenance works to be undertaken for the workshop, grading of
the internal access tracks, revitalisation of the Collie River Scenic Drive frontage. The development approval
will provide guidance on keeping the subject site in a tidy state, including screening of materials from view if
required.
We trust this provides sufficient information for the Shire to finalise its assessment and grant an approval.
Should you have any queries or require further clarification in regard to the above matter please do not
hesitate to contact the writer.
Yours faithfully

_________________________
ROSS UNDERWOOD
ASSOCIATE
Encl. Steel shelter indicative floor plan
201009 6590 letter to Shire.docx
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LOT 1 COLLIE RIVER SCENIC DRIVE
COLLIE, WA
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SCHEDULE OF PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS
Proposed Industry General- Lot 1 (No 650) Collie River Scenic Drive, Collie
No.
1.

Submitter
Adjoining Landowner

Nature of Submission
Objection,
The submitter has indicated they strongly oppose the application
for the following reasons;
-

-

-

-

-

The property has been in dispute for approximately 11
years and has been an eyesore for that time.
After the investment into the upgrade of Collie River Scenic
Drive, promoting access to the pristine scenery to
encourage tourism and local interest in the Collie River, A
Woodyard directly adjacent is not in keeping with the
surrounding environment.
The possible noise and dust impacts from woodworking
machines and vehicles moving around the site is
concerning.
Re-milling of salvage timber would likely cause
contamination from paint (lead), glues and other
contaminants from treated timber. These contaminants
could then leach into adjoining waterways , neighbouring
properties and the surrounding Westralia Conservation
Park.
The property is located on a soak, with the water level only
half a metre underground during summer. During winter, the
winter soak becomes a winter creek which runs down the
middle of the property into the river. Waste from the site will
then be flushed into the river which is of great
environmental concern.
There is concern regarding the Applicant classifying the use
as a Woodyard.

Officer Comments
Shire Officers note the concerns of the
submitter regarding the visual impacts
of the proposal and the existing
condition of the site. The importance of
this area for tourism is also
acknowledged.
Concerns regarding noise, dust and
contamination are acknowledged by
Shire Officers. The application does
not currently address how these
impacts could be appropriately
managed.
Shire Officers have determined the
proposed activities included within the
proposal are not consistent with that of
a Woodyard and is better classified
Industry- General.

Please
note that submissions received in response to the public advertisement have been paraphrased in this document, to express theAppendix
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-

2.

Adjoining Landowner

There is concern that if the application is approved, the site
will revert to its previous condition of being an unsightly and
unkempt mess.
This property should remain as Rural 1 and should not be
used for any industrial purposes.
The possible environmental impact of contamination

Objection,
The submitter has indicated they object to the proposal for the
following reasons;
-

The proposal is not consistent with the rural nature of
surrounding properties and will result in noise, air, light ,
visual and potential water pollution in the scenic, rural
environment of the Collie River, the Collie River Scenic
Drive, the Westralia Conservation Park and the State
Forest.

While the submitter strongly objects to the proposal, should Council
approve the application, the following conditions are requested;
1. Hours of Operation;
The proposal states that the Proposed Woodyard will operate
during ‘standard hours’. What this means is unclear but it is
requested operations be restricted to Monday to Friday 8:00am
to 4:00pm.

Shire Officers note the concerns of the
submitter regarding the visual impacts
of the proposal and the existing
condition of the site. The importance of
this area for tourism is also
acknowledged.
Concerns regarding noise, dust and
contamination are acknowledged by
Shire Officers. The application does
not currently address how these
impacts could be appropriately
managed.
The submitters requested conditions
for consideration, should approval be
granted have been noted.

2. Noise;
The proposal refers to the proposed use of a table saw, a
thicknesser/planer and a band saw. These items are noisy and
usually emit high frequency noise which will carry through the
river valley. It is requested that noise be contained within the
site and that noise control measures, such as enclosed,
insulated sheds, be required. The proposal refers to a steel

Please
note that submissions received in response to the public advertisement have been paraphrased in this document, to express theAppendix
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shelter open on one side. If Council approved an open, rather
than closed shed as I request, it is important that the open side
does not face the river.
3. Dust;
Sawdust will be a by product of the wood processing. I request
that a condition of approval is that all dust is captured on site
and disposed off appropriately. Noise protection will also be
required for any dust capture system.
4. Water Pollution:
The Collie River is a significant asset of the Shire, as
demonstrated by the investment in road improvements on Collie
River Scenic Drive. It is critical that no pollution of the river is
permitted from the site.
5. Light
Adjoining landowners are entitled to quiet enjoyment of the rural
area. It is requested that a tree buffer be planted on the south
western boundary to help alleviate the light pollution from the
property and visual pollution of the proposed 10m high shed.
6. Fire Risk
The property is surrounded by vegetation, adjacent to the
Westralia Conservation Park and Collie State Forest. Fire has
threatened the area at least twice in recent years. It is critical
that the operations of the proposal does not increase the risk of
fire to the region.
7. Other
The DA states that “an industrial complex is located 1km to the
east of the subject site.” I note that the industrial complex, the
old char plant, has not operated for more than a decade and
has been in care and maintenance only during that time.

Please
note that submissions received in response to the public advertisement have been paraphrased in this document, to express theAppendix
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3.

Department of
Biodiversity,
Conservation and
Attractions (DBCA)
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Neutral,
DBCA provided the following advice on the proposal;
-

-

-

Shire Officer’s acknowledge DBCA’s
advice regarding landscaping and
visual impacts, road upgrades and fire
risk.

It is noted that Landscaping is proposed to provide
screening to the west of Lot 1. The Bibbulman Track is
located to the east of Lot 1. DBCA recommends that any
development within Lot 1 be designed to minimise impact
potential visual amenity impacts from the Bibbulmun Track
to Lot 1. The visual impact objective is to avoid obvious
alien visual impacts for the users of the Bibbulman Track.
Collie River Scenic Drive is adjacent to Westralia
Conservation Park and is the proposed access route. Is it
unclear if any road upgrades are required. If they are
required, then the road design should ensure that there will
be no pollutant or sediment run off to the adjoining
Westralia Conservation Park. Any clearing of native
vegetation for road upgrades may require a Clearing Permit
from DWER.
As the Lot is within a bushfire prone area, DBCA consider
that a suitable management plan should be implemented to
minimize the risk of bushfire ignition from the proposed on
site saw-mill and machinery. The proponent should seek
advice from DFES.

Please
note that submissions received in response to the public advertisement have been paraphrased in this document, to express theAppendix
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Big Start Pty Ltd
ABN: 87 162 024 866
Appendix
9
AFSL: 474592
177 Rokeby Road
Subiaco WA 6008
www.bigstart.com.au

18 November 2020
Ms Allison Fergie
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Shire of Collie
CC:
Cr Sarah Stanley, Shire President, Shire of Collie
Mr Andrew Dover, Director Development Services, Shire of Collie

Dear Ms Fergie,
Re: planning application for 85-89 Steere Street Collie
I write to give a detailed written statement in support of the proposal.
Big Start Pty Ltd (Big Start) proposes to establish an appropriately scaled operation as a retail outlet
store for the sale of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) with an associated surgical and N95/N99
equivalent medical mask assembly area at 85-89 Steere Street, Collie (Proposed Site).
In the meantime, we are also looking to avail ourselves of the Covid-19 emergency planning legislation
as a temporary measure in order to start production quickly for the benefit of the State but also for
the benefit of creating jobs immediately in Collie.
Details of the use/development
Summary
As per the attached drawings, we propose a retail outlet store for the sale of PPE (denoted as area
“A”) with an associated mask assembly area (denoted as area “B”).
To commission and start up the assembly process, we have set up one assembly machine initially with
the intention of producing 500,000 to 1 million masks per month. We would expect this to generate
approximately 20-30 jobs.
Should demand increase we have capacity to increase up to 12 machines in total, subject to wishes of
the Collie Shire and community and the State. At this capacity level it expects to produce
approximately 4 million Level 2, 4 million Level 3 and 4 million N95/N99 Surgical Masks per month
from the Proposed Site. Nearing this point the intention is to have finished goods and feedstock
warehoused off-site with truck movements limited as appropriate or investigate other dedicated
facilities.
Big Start also see benefits flowing from potential export operations from this facility. We have
conducted our feasibility study on commercial and export sales and this forms a key part of our sales
strategy.
All information and advice is confidential and for the private information of the person to whom it is provided, without any responsibility of liability on any
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Hours of operation
Initially we expect single shifts around standard business hours however this can be increased
dependent on demand. At full capacity and if the State Government requires, we can achieve full
production based on 2 x 8-hour shifts, commencing at 5am and ending at 9pm if ordered by the WA
Government for requirements in response to States of Emergency / Disaster.
Number of employees (and number on site at any one time)
Initial number of employees is expected to be approximately 20-30 based on one operational
machine. Should we reach peak demand, full operation is expected to generate a total workforce of
150-200 split over two shifts, say approximately 75-95 per shift.
Most work will involve sales staff, machine operators, machine technicians, research and
development staff, staff packing finished goods into cartons and logistics related to the raw materials
and finished product.
Truck movements (times, number and sizes)
We expect movements to be limited to one delivery per day limited to standard business hours of
between 9am and 5pm. We expect this to be in line with previous use as a Target store.
Arrangements for loading/unloading
Property has a loading dock attached to the rear of the Proposed Site. It was previously a Target retail
store. We do not expect many more prime mover movements than previously with the Target store.
Equipment on site (forklifts, fabrication machines)
We expect 12 mask manufacturing machines within the area of Unit 3 (former Target store). We
expect a pallet jack to operate in the loading dock, with vans / trucks to load and unload goods at the
dock occasionally. Also, we expect one pallet pull-up to an additional manual two pallet trolleys.
Materials used in operation and any stored on-site (particularly any dangerous materials and
maximum quantities)
We do not anticipate dangerous goods material to be used. Feedstock is practically synthetic fabric.
Also as part of our research and development planning, we are looking to materials that have the
same or similar protective capacity however are more environmentally friendly, i.e. potentially
compostable materials, as opposed to materials that would end up in landfill.
Utility inputs required into process e.g. water, electricity
Current water, electricity expected to be sufficient. Current electrical infrastructure in building is a key
reason for selecting the Proposed Site. We note there may be minor works required in commissioning
machines however we do not believe anything substantial.
Quantities of waste anticipated
We expect waste to be minimal, generally offcuts of the raw material fabric used in the manufacturing
process that is expected to be disposed of in general commercial waste. Part of our commissioning

All information and advice is confidential and for the private information of the person to whom it is provided, without any responsibility of liability on any
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process and ongoing operations will volve the investigation of other more environmentally friendly,
potentially compostable materials with the potential to reduce landfill.
Any impact to the local amenity e.g. Noise levels anticipated
Impacts to local amenity are expected to be minimal. Noise levels expected to be low. Machine
specification sheet states 60 decibels for each machine, which we understand to be the sound of a
conversation or an air conditioner. Further, machines are not visible to the public given no windows
exist on outside walls.
Big Start expects the visual and audible impact to be no different to a small-scale commercial,
suburban printing press. We expect employees to be able to use the centre’s existing in centre and
on-street parking bays, a total of 44 bays plus two disabled bays.
If permitted, we expect to use the adjacent bed and breakfast as an Indigenous employment training
facility as a live on-site for Aboriginal apprentice programs. Furthermore, we expect if successful to
sponsor the local Collie newspaper. We believe these programs will improve local amenity.
Any work to be done to the building (fit out, ventilation systems)
We are attracted to the Proposed Site because we believe only minor modifications will be required.
We understand there may be some ventilation work required however do not expect this to be
significant given the existing commercial air conditioning infrastructure.
If any retail component is proposed
Propose an outlet store within the centre so residents may purchase PPE at a discount to retail.
If any office component is proposed
Small office related to mask assembly operations and the retail outlet only.
Compliance with Local Planning Scheme/R-Codes/Policies
We respectfully request this application be permitted in an area zoned commercial considering
physical characteristics of the machines. We believe these to be less obtrusive than the commercial
printing presses that one would previously find at the Collie Mail, which was otherwise located in a
commercial area.
Further we would avail ourselves of the Covid-19 emergency planning legislation as a temporary
measure to start production quickly for the benefit of the State but also for the benefit of creating
jobs immediately in Collie.
Justification for any proposed variations to development requirements.
In support of justification of proposed variations, we again point out that we believe this facility is
likely to be less obtrusive than the former commercial printing presses that one would previously find
at the Collie Mail, which we understand was otherwise located in an area zoned commercial.
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Big Start believes this proposal must be looked at in totality of the benefits to both the Collie region
and to the State of Western Australia. Our proposal meets significant service needs for the State and
has significant economic, trade, social and health benefits and aligns with State policy objectives.
Economic benefits: we believe that this proposal provides direct economic stimulus to the Collie
region through an expected 150-200 jobs being created. Commencing manufacturing operations will
create skilled jobs in an area which has seen and will continue to see decline in employment
opportunities due to uncertainty surrounding the coal and power industries. The Collie CBD is also
expected to benefit from the additional expected staff spending on lunch, coffee, etc giving a direct
uplift to the community. This new industry assists the State of Western Australia achieve its stated
objectives of being self-sufficient in the manufacture of PPE.
Trade benefits: potential to develop a PPE industry known for high quality to export local production
to other States / countries, leveraging a desire for supply diversity across the region. Big Start sees this
as a longer-term vision to turn the Collie region into a centre of excellence for PPE manufacturing. This
is like how the Collins Class submarine program fostered the existence of the Henderson Naval
Complex in WA. Further, any oversupply could be used to provide support to charitable organisations.
Social benefits: increased skilled employment through an expected 150-200 jobs created in the region,
allowing residents to remain in the region and bolster the thriving Collie community. We expect to
also be able to provide skilled employment to Indigenous members of the community and would seek
partners for the Federal Indigenous Job Training Program.
Health benefits: this manufacturing solution assists in ensuring surety of supply in protecting skilled,
front-line health workers who are often the first victims of a pandemic due to inadequate PPE. This
proposal assists in keeping them working by ensuring ready access to PPE and can continue to care
for patients, ensuring the health system is adequately resourced when most stressed. This proposal
keeps people alive in times of crisis. This proposal is also expected to help address mental health issues
by providing gainful employment and certainty to residents in an area transitioning from coal mining.
Furthermore, we see this as an opportunity that adds to the vibrancy of Collie through the creation of
new jobs in a new industry. It also lends itself to being a centre of excellence in future for the creation
of PPE and healthcare products, diversifying the industry and employment opportunities in Collie.
Thank you for your time and look forward to working constructively to deliver this much needed
project to Collie.

Yours sincerely,

Jack Quigley
Director
Big Start Pty Ltd

All information and advice is confidential and for the private information of the person to whom it is provided, without any responsibility of liability on any
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Trail Town Accreditation

Becoming a Trail Town

Trails spread economic growth to regional areas
Trail tourism brings people to your town
Trails promote healthy communities
Trail tourism brings new businesses, jobs & volunteer opportunities
Trails build community and cultural capacity
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Why should
my community
be interested
in trail
tourism?1

There is a large amount of evidence demonstrating the positive
economic and social impact of trails.

Trail tourism brings
economic, social,
environmental,
health and
community
outcomes ...
particularly in
regional areas.

In addition to economic benefits, trails are widely known to provide
a range of social benefits including community cohesion, improved
physical and mental health, youth engagement and increased
environmental appreciation, awareness and education.

Trail tourists, including cycle tourists, are known to spend more
and stay longer.
They are low impact tourists with a high dispersal and they tend to
engage in a broader range of experiences than the average visitor.
As such trail tourists are an important growth market for the tourism
industry in Western Australia.

Importantly, much of these benefits are experienced in regional areas.
The key to harnessing this opportunity is having a range of targeted
services and offerings which meet the needs of the trail user.
In addition to a good supply of well-maintained trails, these offerings
include and range from coffee and food services to equipment hire,
accommodation and tours.
The Trails WA Trail Town accreditation program is a tailored, best
practice accreditation system designed to help communities
become world class trail tourism destinations.
The program was developed following a comprehensive study of
international best practice in trails and trail tourism which resulted in
the development of the World Class Trails Hub Strategy for WA
(DSR, 2012).

What will
Trail Town
Accreditation
do for my
town?

Excerpts from World
Class Trail Hubs Strategy
for WA (DSR, 2012) and
Cycle Tourism Strategy
(Westcycle 2019).

1

By undertaking this program, your community has access to a unique
comprehensive assessment program which is essentially a step-by-step
guide to building community capacity in trail tourism.
The outcomes will be:
•

economic (jobs and business growth)

•

environmental (improved environmental outcomes through
better management and increased awareness of user impacts)

•

health (healthier communities) and

•

social (cultural cohesion through awareness and volunteering
opportunities).

If you go through this application process you will undoubtedly realise
improvements in the community’s capacity to support trail tourism
in your town ... resulting in increased visitation, capacity building for
businesses and community building.
Even if your town is not ready to become fully accredited, the process
involves capacity building opportunities which will enhance social and
economic parameters within your community.

WA Trail Town Accreditation overview v1.
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Western
Australia is
on a journey
to become
a World
Class Trails
Destination

There is much work being undertaken throughout WA to foster the
growth of trail tourism. Along with significant planning undertaken to
guide trail construction and management, there are tens of millions of
dollars being invested in trail construction across WA.

What does
the Trail Town
Accreditation
involve?

Based on international best practice, the Trail Town Accreditation
process focuses on improvements to the destination (your town) across
a range of parameters. It’s a comprehensive destination-development
guide targeted at attracting existing and potential trail users.

The Vision for WA is:
Western Australia is recognized throughout the world as an
internationally significant trails destination offering amazing trail
experiences in exceptional locations across the state
(World Class Trails Hubs Strategy 2012).
Trails WA was formed to ensure this vision is achieved.(See below
for further information on Trails WA). Trail Town accreditation is one
initiative amongst a suite of initiatives designed to achieve this vision.

Once you are accredited, the Trail Town branding and Trails WA website
will highlight and promote your town to trail users in WA and beyond.
Joint promotion of WA’s trails and Trail Towns will raise the profile of WA
to interstate and overseas visitors.
So, STEP 1: it gets your ‘product’ ready for sale (i.e. your town and
trails ready for the visitors)

The process will
make your town
tourist-ready.
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And STEP 2: it promotes your town to those potential visitors.
Here’s an insight into what the process covers:
•

How to make your trails best-practice in design and management.

•

What amenities, facilities and services you need in your town to
service the trail user.

•

How can businesses get involved with this lucrative market?

•

What governance structure do you need to make the trails
sustainable over the long term?

•

How do we promote our town to the trails tourist?
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What is the
process to
become
accredited?
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The Trail Town initiative consists of the following components:
1. Introduction to Trail Tourism
Your first step will be to contact trailswa@gmail.com who will direct
your enquiry to a member of the Trail Town Assessment panel2. A panel
member will liaise with you to establish a meeting to introduce the
benefits of trail tourism and the process for becoming a Trail Town.
Ongoing engagement and opportunities for a facilitated self-assessment
and capacity audit session will also be discussed. This process aims to
assist your community to identify the areas where further focus might be
needed in order to begin to embrace the opportunities of trail tourism.
2 Trail Friendly Business Program
Information and criteria to help develop new and existing businesses in
your town to meet the needs of trail users.
Cost: FREE
3. Trail Town Accreditation Program (TTAP)
This program enables a town to achieve the status of an accredited
Trail Town and therefore receive the full benefits including use of the
Trail Town logo.(See benefits on next page.)

The Assessment
Panel comprises of
representatives of the
Board of Trails WA and
the WA Trails Reference
Group; convened by
the Department of Local
Government, Sport
and Cultural Industries
(DLGSC); Department of
Conservation, Biodiversity
and Attractions (DBCA).
Members of this panel
will all be familiar with
Trail Town requirements,
assessment and approval
process.
2

There is no formal appeal
process however the
accreditation process is
designed to ensure that
sufficient advice and
support is available to
applicants, to avoid a
further review if the initial
application should not be
approved.

3
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The following steps describe the process:
STEP 1: Purchase the Application Pack.
Cost $500. Documentation includes:
i

Application form including explanatory information

ii.

Guidelines to the accreditation process

iii.

Supporting information

STEP 2: Applicant reviews the documentation.
STEP 3: Site visit by Trails WA assessors to meet with community
members to discuss the process and the town’s readiness for
assessment.
STEP 4: Applicant completes the application process. During this
stage there is ongoing liaison between the town and the assessment
team to assist with the necessary capacity building for the town to
achieve accreditation. When ready, the applicant is provided with a
version of the application form with supporting information removed for
ease of completion.
STEP 5: The Applicant submits the application form.
STEP 6: The Assessment Panel2 will evaluate the application to
ensure the minimum requirements are met. The panel may approve
the application or undertake an onsite verification or request changes
if required. Any areas of discrepancy will be outlined in an Assessment
Report which can be used by the Applicant to assist with completing
those missing requirements. Applications which initially do not meet
the minimum requirement will need to pay $100 for each additional
application3.
STEP 7: The Application is approved by Trails WA.
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Costs
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a. Application Pack $500
b. Following approved Accreditation:
Licence fee of $500 for use of the Trail Town logo and promotion on
Trails WA website for two years.
c. Renewal fee: every two years a renewal fee of $200 to Trails 		
WA for an assessor to review the town’s performance 			
according to all the required criteria in the Application Form.
If the town continues to meet all the requirements, then an 		
additional two-year licence is purchased ($500) for ongoing 		
use of the logo and promotion on Trails WA website.
Summary of costs:
$1000 to gain accreditation and be promoted as a Trail Town for first
2 years.
$700 to be renewed and continue to be promoted for each additional
2 years.

Benefits of
becoming an
accredited
Trail Town

1. Access to this lucrative market through concerted dedicated
targeted marketing activity by Trails WA, including 365 days per year
promotion on www.trailswa.com.au as an accredited Trail Town.
During 2020 the website received over 1.5 million page views.
2. A dedicated Trail Town profile on the Trails WA website highlighting
your destination and cross-promoting the trails/trail-friendly
businesses and service providers in your town.
3. A link for your own website that enables you to embed the trail
profiles within your own site eliminating the need for you to invest
in developing the functionality required to display detailed trail
information and maps.
4. Beneficiary of all the marketing initiated by Trails WA, to promote WA
as a world class trails destination. This includes activation strategies
and events to promote the best experiences in the trail network.
5. Access to all social media initiatives undertaken by and on behalf
of Trails WA. Currently there are over 5000 members of Trails WA’s
community within the website and 12,000 followers on Social Media.
6. Access through Trails WA to its marketing partners including Tourism
Western Australia, Regional Tourism Organisations (RTOs), Local
Government, Visitor Centres, Local Tourism Operators and social
media influencers. Trails WA is working with Tourism WA and other
channels to raise the profile of trails and increase their exposure to
interstate and international markets.
7. Training and capacity building according to the best practice
standards implicit within the accreditation process. This will ensure
that any accredited Trail Town delivers an exemplary service and a
sustainable world class trail tourism destination.
8. Nationally and internationally recognised branding of your town as a
Trails WA Trail Town.
9. Use of the Trail Town logo on your marketing material and signage
as per the Trails WA Style Guide “Guidelines for the Promotion of
WA’s Top Trails and Trail Towns”.
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What is
a Trail
Friendly
Business?

What is
a Top Trail?
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Being trail friendly is easy … providing trail users with a warm
welcome and facilities to refresh, refill and re-energise are the
main aims!
Criteria has been developed for accommodation, cafes & restaurants,
hire, transport providers and tour operators. From providing laundry
facilities and bike racks to packed lunches and camping supplies we
can help you attract trail users.
The Trail Friendly Business program has been designed to:
•

Help businesses offer services and amenities to meet the needs of
trail users.

•

Create a community of like-minded businesses who share 		
knowledge and cross-promote each other.

•

Identify a businesses as trail friendly by displaying the trail
friendly logo.

The aim of the Top Trails project is to identify the best trails in each
region, and promote them cooperatively to bring more visitors to
regional areas of Western Australia.
As the idea is to assist visitors to WA, then ideally paddle and bike trails
will have hire facilities close by (as it is unlikely a visitor will bring their
own with them!)
Nominated trails are assessed against the following criteria:
To be selected a trail needs to be of a high standard and provide a
memorable or unique experience. Additionally, the trail will have:

See WA’s Top Trails here
... http://trailswa.com.au/
trails/top-trails/
To assess and nominate
a potential Top Trail - or
to view the guidelines for
promotion - download the
forms here http://www.
trailtalk.com.au/group/trailmanagement/forum/topics/
what-is-a-top-trail
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•

appropriate signage - directional trail marking, distance and 		
locational

•

maps, guide books and track notes if required

•

interpretative material and information if appropriate

•

management and maintenance plans

•

community support (e.g. friends group or Shire involvement)

•

a promotional brochure

The following factors are also taken into consideration:
•

the quality of the experience

•

point of difference

•

accessibility

•

community involvement

•

cultural awareness

•

nearby facilities and services

•

safety
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Promoting
your trail(s) on
trailswa.com.au
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The Trails WA website has been designed to enable trail managers,
local government and visitor centres to upload ALL well managed trails
to attract visitors to their region.
The website features a detailed profile for each trail and can be
searched via region, type, name or experience.
Users can refine their search to show only Top Trails, or dog friendly
or wheelchair accessible trails. Other features include downloadable
maps, social media integration, ATDW (Australian Tourism Data
Warehouse) integration and more.
Trails added to the website will then display on the Trails WA App
(iOS only). Planned improvements to the site will enable display on
all devices.

What are
the benefits?

The benefits for the visitor
•

Central portal for trail information to make it easy to find 		
comprehensive, consistent information.

•

If a visitor has limited time, we identify the top trails that provide the
best experiences in each region.

•

Each trail displays listings for accommodation, services and other
attractions in the area.

•

Visitors can rate, review, upload trail photos, save their favourites
and share trails via social media.

•

Comprehensive links to the closest visitor centre, national parks and
other relevant information.

The benefits for the tourism industry
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•

Quality trails attract visitors and provide a reason to stay longer.

•

RTOs and VICs can highlight the trails in their region on their own
websites - and link to Trails WA for the in-depth information for each
trail including safety information and downloadable maps.

•

Cross-promotion - each trail provides links to the RTO website
and to the closest visitor centre for more information and to book
accommodation etc.

•

The Trails WA website attracts thousands of visitors a month and is
another way to promote your region.
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What trails
can be
uploaded?
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While trails don’t have to meet all the criteria of a Top Trail, the
trails should be suitable for promotion to visitors who may travel a
considerable distance to use it.
Therefore please only upload a trail if it:
•

Is a managed trail - i.e. someone is responsible for maintaining it
and it is not overgrown or missing signage.

•

Has a defined start and finish point - preferably with a trailhead if in
a park or bushland.

•

Has clear directional signage along the trail. Or a street map for an
urban trail. (KML files showing the route of the trail can be created
using Google Earth. This can be uploaded to the website to create a
printable map of the trail.)

•

Is an enjoyable and/or interesting experience that people will be
happy to talk about!

Note:

How do we
get our trails
on to the
website?

•

As the land managers, Parks and Wildlife Services uploads trails in
National Parks.

•

If a trail is part of a Network - the Trails WA officer will create the
network and link the trails to the network page. Description of the
network and related info to be provided.

Firstly, which organisation is the most suitable to upload your trail(s)
- the Shire, the visitor centre - or is there a ‘friends’ group? Trails are
always assigned to an organisation as people change. Trails can also
be assigned to more than one organisation.
Secondly, who will upload the information? This can be more than one
person. You may decide that the Shire is the most suitable organisation
- but staff members from both the Shire and the VIC upload the content.
1. Email trailswa@gmail.com.au to request access.
2. Provide organisation details: Name, address, email and phone
number.
3. Provide details of the person(s) who will be uploading the content:
Name, position, email address and phone number.
4. The link, password and guidelines for creating and uploading the
content will be emailed to you. (These documents are also available
below)
5. Once uploaded - Trails can be reviewed and shared via Facebook
and other social media!
We hope you will take this opportunity to promote your trails and help us
make the Trails WA website a worldclass example of visitor information.
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Who is
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Trails WA is an independent for purpose organisation that exists to
facilitate advocacy for and the marketing of a high quality trails network
across Western Australia.
Through our efforts we aim to:
•

Make it easier for WA residents and visitors to find information
on Trails.

•

Be a central source of information regarding all things trails
including events, news, and planning.

•

Connect trail users with each other and encourage people to try
a trail and “find themselves in amazing places!”

•

Raise funds and resources to improve our amazing trail network.

•

Put WA on the map as a trails destination!

Trails WA manages www.trailswa.com.au which is the most
comprehensive and growing online database of trails in Western
Australia featuring over 600 trails. The collation of the GPS coordinates
into an electronic map, photos and detailed information of over 600
trails around the State, combined with the mapping of Trail Towns and
Networks, makes www.trailswa.com the most comprehensive portal for
visitor information on trails in WA.
The Trails WA portal enables trail managers, visitor centres and shires
to upload and manage their own trail information making it easily the
most up to date database of trail activity in Australia.
You can promote managed trails in your region prior to becoming a
Trail Town.
View our Strategic Plan
https://www.dropbox.com/s/hkedphrqzp745ub/Trails%20WA%20
Strategic%20Direction%20-%20low%20res.pdf?dl=0
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Trails WA activities and resources
(Note - redevelopment of digital platform is underway)

Trails WA website

Promotes all types of trails in WA.
Individual trails, networks & Towns.

http://trailswa.com.au/

Trails WA App Makes it easy to find
the closest trails.

Populated with content from the
Trails WA website. Version 1 is iOS
only.

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/notes/Plan_
your_next_WA_adventure_with_new_
Trails_WA_App

How to get your trails
on the Trails WA website

Shires and tourism orgs are invited
to upload and manage their own
trail content.

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/trail-management/forum/topics/promoting-your-trails-on-trailswa-com-au

Trail Town resources

Logos and Styleguide

https://www.dropbox.com/sh/hjwi0xnmzz4k706/AABc25s1lHrmxLhfdq236Vbla?dl=0

Trailtalk website

A forum website for news,
events, blogs, resources. Aim is
to encourage cross-promotion of
events and information.

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/

Trail Management and
Volunteer Resources

This group is on the Trailtalk
website and free to join. You’ll find
a range of resources – some of
which are listed below:

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/trail-management

Top Trails program

Explanation + nomination and
assessment forms

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/trail-management/forum/topics/what-is-a-top-trail

Trail Classification
Guidelines

Guidelines for all types of trails can
be found here.

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/trail-management/forum/topics/trail-classification-guidelines

Guidelines for the
Planning, Design,
Construction and
Maintenance of
Recreational Trails

These guidelines will assist all
trail stakeholders involved in
trail planning, development,
construction, management,
promotion and trail use

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/
trail-management/forum/topics/guidelines-for-the-planning-design-construction-and-maintenance-o

Online Trail Design
and Maintenance
training program

If you are involved in planning,
building or maintaining trails
then this online training course is
essential viewing.

http://www.trailtalk.com.au/group/trail-management/forum/topics/online-trail-design-and-maintenance-training-program
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Premier’s Foreword
Since the discovery of coal in 1893,
Collie has been integral to the State’s
economy and energy landscape. The
town has become the hub of the
South-West Interconnected System
(SWIS), producing all the State’s coal
and providing much of the power
capacity on the SWIS.

6

Collie’s economic prosperity has
historically been tied to the fate
of the coal and energy industries.
WA’s energy system is shifting from
traditional generation to increased
reliance on new large and small-scale
renewable energy and storage, and
the industry is moving away from a
dependence on coal. This is not an
isolated phenomenon. All around the
world, economies are shifting towards
new energy sources, changing the
economic and employment landscape
of communities that have previously
Appendix 13
sustained the energy sectors.

Just Transition is an internationally
endorsed framework that recognises
that energy transitions are about
people: the ones who make the
decisions and the ones affected by
those decisions. A Just Transition
approach ensures that the affected
people are considered by those
making decisions and that early action
on a Just Transition can minimise
the negative impacts and maximise
positive opportunities. The Paris
Agreement on climate change includes
Just Transition as an important
principle. Just Transition is not a
fixed set of rules, but a vision and a
process based on dialogue and an
agenda shared by workers, industry,
and governments that needs to be
negotiated and implemented, taking
into consideration each community’s
own unique contexts.
Appendix 13
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Image: www.colliehub.com.au

In 2018, Collie took the early steps to
bring together industry, community,
unions and government to commence
a dialogue on a Just Transition. The
group identified a pressing need
to begin the transition work to
ensure success for the workers and
community. Subsequently, the Just
Transition Working Group (JTWG)
was formed, and the group has
worked together to develop a Just
Transition Plan as the foundation for
what is recognised will be a 10-15 year
transition process for Collie.
The effort, pragmatism and goodwill
that will be required to collectively
deliver a Just Transition for Collie is
not insignificant. The membership of
the group by those representing the
employers, employees, unions and
community is a reflection of the priority
and commitment that the individuals
andAppendix
organisations
being represented
13

give to this work. This commitment has
been evident in the efforts and energy
shown so far and will be an important
part of the work into the future.
The WA Government commends the
Collie community for taking these
steps and is committed to working with
the community, industry and unions to
deliver a Just Transition for Collie and
to create a strong future as it shifts
away from a dependence on coal and
coal-fired energy production.

Premier Mark McGowan
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Executive Summary
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For over 100 years, Collie has been
WA’s only productive coalfield and its
contribution to the economic and energy
landscape of the State is both unique and
significant. However, the Collie coal and
energy industries now face competition
from increasingly cheaper energy options
as well as the global push to move away
from coal-fired generation to achieve
emissions reductions targets.
Change is already happening in Collie
with the announcement of the staged
retirement of two of four operating
units at Synergy’s Muja Power Station
from October 2022. The launch of the
Whole of System Plan for the South West
Interconnected System (SWIS) suggests
renewable generation is expected to
at least triple by 2040, with a strong
uptake in wind power and continued
displacement of traditional forms of
generation by rooftop solar. To ensure
those affected by changes in Collie are
provided with new opportunities, the WA
Government has committed to developing
a Just Transition Plan.
The concept of a Just Transition is
based on international evidence that
working together at a regional level
can improve overall outcomes for

8
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affected communities. Whilst individual
companies retain responsibility for
supporting workers, there is a role for
the WA Government in supporting the
broader community and local economy by
coordinating regional opportunities.
Collie’s Just Transition Plan is a key
deliverable of the Economic Development
Action Plan for the Collie and Bunbury
Regions 2020-2026 and builds on the
significant suite of initiatives and projects
supported by the WA Government since
2017 for the economic transformation and
diversification of Collie.
To support a Just Transition for
Collie, representatives from the Collie
community, employers, unions, and
State and local governments have
come together to form a Just Transition
Working Group (JTWG).
The Just Transition Plan has been
developed by the JTWG and represents
the first phase of a collective commitment
to achieving a Just Transition. The Plan
will focus on a five-year period from 20212025, with the primary goal of supporting
affected workers and communities in
the transition from emissions-intensive
industries in a coordinated way.
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The Just Transition Plan has been
designed to be broad enough to remain
relevant despite the rapid transformation
in energy production and use impacting
coal-fired generation and mining.

determined and led by the JTWG to focus
on achievable outcomes over the shortterm aligned to the Plan’s objectives.
These actions will be reviewed and
updated through the life of the Plan.

Based on principles developed by the
JTWG to guide their efforts over the life
of the transition, the Plan covers four key
focus areas: maximising opportunities for
affected workers; diversifying the local
economy; celebrating Collie’s history and
promoting its future; and committing to
a Just Transition. Attached to these focus
areas are 12 themes to guide action.

The JTWG’s commitment to the Just
Transition is for the long term. The
transition will be worked through in
partnership with energy and coal workers
and other stakeholders over the next 10 to
15 years when most structural changes are
expected to occur. The Just Transition Plan
will ensure that workers and communities
are supported through each stage of
the transition.

An Action Register has been developed
for use by the JTWG to support the Plan.
The Register contains a set of actions

Principles

Sets out what the Just Transition process will seek to achieve,
and the basis for delivering across the whole-of-transition.

Plan

Focus on priorities for the coming five years, outlining what
needs to be achieved, and how the process will be governed.

Implementation

Appendix 13

An Action Register with a detailed list of commitments and
actions will guide the work of the JTWG to achieve the objectives
of the Plan over the coming 1-2 years and be reviewed annually.
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Economic
History of Collie
and the Impact
of Transition
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Economic History of Collie
Collie is located in the Wilman region that
is home to the Ganeang, Pinjarup and
Wilman people1 of the Noongar Nation.
The people of this land have a strong
connection to local areas such as the
Collie River, Minninup Pool, Collie Spring,
Brunswick River and the Preston River.2
Collie has had a storied history as a
contributor to Western Australia’s
economy – from humble beginnings in
1897, the town has become the hub of the
SWIS, producing all the State’s coal
and providing much of the power
capacity on the SWIS through three
major power stations.

Present-day Collie is an economic hub
of the South West region, contributing
11 per cent to the region’s Gross Regional
Product,4 with exports from the Collie
region valued at $3.46 billion as at
March 2020, which is 29.9 per cent of
the South West region’s exports of $11.5
billion. Of this $3.46 billion, $1.44 billion
was from mining, $1.22 billion was from
manufacturing, and $0.6 billion was from
electricity, gas, water and waste
services (utilities).5

Collie’s economic prosperity has
historically been tied to the fate of the
coal and energy industries. Booming
power demand in the 1950s resulted
in the town’s population to grow to
almost 9,000 by 1954. Conversely,
historic downturns for the Collie coal
industry in the 1960s and 1990s led to
unemployment, falling population, and
local recession.3

www.noongarculture.org.au/gnaala-karla-booja/
www.water.wa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/5443/91172.pdf
3
Collie Municipal Heritage Inventory 1995 (https://www.collie.wa.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Collie-MunicipalHeritage-Inventory-1995-Introduction.pdf)
13
4
CollieAppendix
Economic Development
Task Force Report 2017
5
REMPLAN, Economy dataset - Collie, March 2020 update, courtesy of the Department of Primary Industries and
Regional Development.
1

2
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Images from colliemail.
com.au,www.facebook.
com/collielibrary and
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exhibitions.slwa.wa.gov.au
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1883
1897/98

Collie declared a townsite;
rail connection established

1903

Coal transforms Collie to a town
of 1,500 people, producing
140,000 tonnes of coal each year

1931

First coal-fired power
station built in Collie

1954

Post-war power demand
leads to the growth of
Collie to 8,667 people

1960

Closure of Amalgamated
Collieries leads to loss of
700 coal mining jobs

1966

Coal-fired Muja power station
opened in Shire of Collie

1984

Worsley Alumina Refinery
opened near Collie to take
advantage of coal power

1994

Closure of last underground
coal mine leads to job losses

1999

Collie Power Station opened

2009

Images from colliemail.com.au,
www.facebook.com/collielibrary
Appendix 13
and exhibitions.slwa.wa.gov.au.

Coal accidentally discovered
in Collie basin when fire pit
stones catch alight

Bluewaters Power
Station completed

2010

Worsley Alumina expansion
includes co-generation

2017

Muja A and B retired

2019

Announcement of the staged
retirement of Muja C by 2024
Appendix 13
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Collie
Now
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Collie’s population is currently ~8,700
but has been declining since 2013.6 This
is in contrast to population growth more
generally across the South West over
the same period. Collie’s population and
employment is highly reliant on the coal
mining and energy industries: Data for
2019 shows that of 4,710 people that work
in Collie, 23.3 per cent were employed in
mining, 16.4 per cent in manufacturing
and 11.7 per cent in electricity, gas, and
water and waste services. Coal mining
specifically is Collie’s top employer.7
A survey of Collie coal and energy
employees from July 2020 revealed that
52 per cent of respondents have worked
in the coal industry for over 10 years,
highlighting the need to support the
transition to other industries.8

While Collie’s current workforce is
strongly shaped by the coal and energy
sectors, Collie has strengths to be
leveraged to create a future diverse
economy. These include: a range of town
services and community and recreational
facilities; an established industry hub with
key linkages to the Bunbury port; a skilled
technical workforce; proximity to rich
natural resources beyond coal including
productive agricultural and timber
production land, and mineral resource
deposits in the wider South West region;
natural attractions in forests, rivers, and
lakes; and transmission infrastructure
connections.

Collie Employment by Industry (2019)9
Other Services

2.72%
0.64%

Arts and Recreation Services
Health Care and Social Assistance

7.98%
7.03%

Education and Training

3.25%
1.78%
1.36%
1.34%
0.91%
0.30%
2.14%
5.71%
7.01%
0.00%
5.77%
11.68%

Professional, Scientific and Technical Services
Rental, Hiring and Real Estate Services
Financial and Insurance Services
Information Media and Telecommunications
Transport, Postal and Warehousing
Accomodation and Food Services
Retail Trade
Wholesale Trade
Construction
Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste Services
Mining

23.31%
0.70%
15.00% 10.00%

Administrative and Support Services

Manufacturing

16.37%

25.00% 20.00%

Public Administration and Safety

5.00%

Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing
0%

Collie population data from ABS.stat; https://quickstats.censusdata.abs.gov.au/census_services/getproduct/census/2016/quickstat/SSC50309
REMPLAN, Economy dataset - Collie, March 2020 update, courtesy of the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development.
8
Just Transition Collie Workers Survey
6
7

12
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REMPLAN, Economy dataset - Collie, March 2020 update, courtesy of the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development.
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Impact of Transition
Western Australia’s energy sector is
transforming with new renewable energy
developments and rapid uptake of rooftop
solar panels. One in three households
currently has rooftop solar and this is
expected to increase to 50 per cent of
households by 2030.

role in the future generation mix beyond
this decade. However, it will become less
economic over time due to displacement by
lower cost technologies, in particular rooftop
solar and wind. Large-scale renewables will
at least triple by 2040, with a strong uptake
of wind power.

In light of the changing energy landscape, in
October 2020 the WA Government released
the inaugural Whole of System Plan (WOSP)
developed by the independently chaired
‘Energy Transformation Taskforce’.

In August 2019, the WA Government
announced the staged retirement of
Synergy’s oldest operating power station,
with Muja G5 to retire in October 2022 and
Muja G6 in October 2024. This will see a
reduction in coal-fired capacity in the SWIS
from 1,568 MW in 2020 to 1,178 MW in 2024.

The WOSP is a modelling and analysis
exercise to identify what the lowest cost mix
of generation and storage might be over the
next 20 years under four possible economic
and electricity demand scenarios.
The WOSP was developed to inform energy
policy development and opportunities for
investment in the SWIS over the coming
decades. The WOSP is not a prediction
of the future and it does not make any
decisions in relation to investment or
retirement of any generation plant, including
coal plant in Collie. It provides useful insights
to ensure WA Government and the Collie
community are best prepared for any future.
Across all scenarios modelled, it is clear
that coal will continue to play an important

Under the WOSP’s high demand scenarios,
Collie’s remaining coal plant would continue
to be in the lowest cost to supply mix. In
contrast, if demand proves to be lower,
coal plant may be placed under greater
economic pressure and up to 500 MW
might no longer feature in the lowest
cost mix.
The WA Government has learned from
the fraught experiences on the east coast,
and requires all power station operators to
provide at least three years notice for any
future retirement decisions ensuring there is
time to plan for a Just Transition for workers.

Collie population data from ABS.stat; coal production data from WA Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety (https://www.dmp.wa.gov.au/Documents/
Appendix 13
Appendix 13
Investors/2019-20-Major-commodities.xlsx)
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Pathway
to a Just Transition

Since 2017 the McGowan Government has
worked tirelessly to deliver a Just Transition
for Collie. In November 2017 the Government
established a Ministerial Steering Committee
for the Economic Development Plan for
the Collie Bunbury Regions, chaired by
the Minister for Regional Development
to oversee the delivery of the Economic
Development Action Plan for the Collie and
Bunbury Regions 2020-2026.
The Action Plan includes a series of grants
programs, projects and initiatives designed
to strengthen and drive the diversification
and transformation of the Collie economy
with a focus on economic development, job
creation, investment attraction, infrastructure
growth and sustainability to support the
economic transition of the region.

14

Appendix 13

Appendix 13

To date over $47 million of a total budget of
$80 million has been allocated to projects
through a number of programs, the Collie
Industry Attraction and Development Fund
and Collie Futures Fund (Collie Futures
Small Grants Program and Collie Futures
Industry Development Fund).
Some of the projects funded include:
support for the establishment of the
WesTrac Technology Training Centre; the
Koolinup Emergency Services and Incident
Control Centre and Emergency Driver
Training School; support for an emergency
vehicle manufacturing facility; the
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation
and Safety, Licensing Centre; remediation
works to get the Collie Roundhouse to
lease-ready state; the Collie Adventure Trail

Appendix 13
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project; the development of Lake Kepwari
as a world class recreation facility; and the
Collie Mural Trail project with the mega
mural at Wellington Dam as its centrepiece.

Appendix 13

This collaborative approach has resulted in
the development of Collie’s Just Transition
Plan.

Further, funding has been provided to a
range of feasibility studies including: soluble
protein manufacturing using lupins; a hemp
processing facility; and a water filtration
research project. To coordinate delivery of
Government’s commitments to Collie, the
WA Government has established the Collie
Delivery Unit for an initial period of 5 years.
In 2018, the State Government set out the
framework for the establishment of the Just
Transition Working Group in collaboration
with State agencies, local government,
industry, worker representative groups and
key community stakeholders.
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Collie’s Just
Transition Plan
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To anchor the work of the JTWG, a set of principles was developed by the
Group and endorsed by the WA Government as a means of guiding the
whole-of-transition efforts:

1.

Encourage sound investments in lowemission and job-rich sectors and
technologies that attract and maintain
local employment opportunities.

2. Recognise, promote and celebrate the

history, cultural heritage and invaluable
contribution the town of Collie and
associated coal and power generation
industries have made and continue to
make to the State of Western Australia.

3. Respect the rights of those affected

by transition to be treated with justice
and dignity.

4. Ensure all consultation and negotiations
are honest, open and transparent and
work towards achieving consensus on
goals, timelines and pathways.

5. Recognise that “we’re all in this

together”, and thus share the
challenges and opportunities transition
brings. The objective is to see that
no-one is left behind.

6. Strive to ensure that all those affected

by transition are given comprehensive
information, opportunity and choice
to retrain, reskill/upskill or take an
alternative pathway within a reasonable
timeframe.

7. Organise local, long-term economic

diversification plans that support
worthwhile occupations and foster
continuous improvement in local living
standards for current and
future generations.

8. Provide policy, social support and

linkages to community and government
services for the benefit of all those
affected by transition.

The principles are intentionally broad enough to support the longer-term view of
transition. While the transition of the Collie economy and employment landscape is
expected to occur over the next 10-15 years, both the economic environment and
priorities will change significantly over this period. As such, in order to place a focus
on tangible actions, a decision was made to develop a Just Transition Plan that
supports the first five years and focusses on preparation and stabilisation activities
ahead of major economic impacts.
Sitting beneath the Just Transition Plan, the Action Register defines the actions that
will bring the Plan to life, translating five year objectives into shorter term (12 - 18
months) goals and actions that can be reviewed and refreshed across the life of the
Plan. It includes action details, including ownership, timelines and implementation,
and will be used by the JTWG to manage and drive activity.
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Strategic focus areas
12 Themes

Supporting
employers Attracting
and facilitating
Matching to support industry
workers workers
opportunities
with new
Growing
opportunities
the tourism
industry
Understanding
the workforce

Engaging
workers in the
Just Transition

Continuing
Government
support

Diversifying
Maximising
opportunities the local
economy
for affected
workers

Supporting
local business

4Focus
Areas

Committing
to a Just
Transition

Engaging the
community and
employers
Supporting
the Just
Transition
Working
Group

Celebrating
Collie’s History
and Promoting
its Future

Showcasing
Collie’s history

Changing
perspectives
of Collie
Actions under each
theme that create
the Action Register

The Just Transition principles have been used to develop four key focus areas
within the Plan:
•

Maximising opportunities
for affected workers;

•

Celebrating Collie’s history and
promoting its future; and

•

Diversifying the local economy;

•

Committing to a Just Transition.

These focus areas define the work being undertaken as part of the Just Transition
effort, link directly to the outcomes being sought, and are supported by actions
under each theme.
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Maximising
opportunities for affected workers
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opportunities for impacted workers
to access new jobs and places an
Supporting
Attracting
emphasis on the importance of ensuring
employers
and cooperation
facilitating between employers and the
Matching to support industry
workforce.
workers workers
opportunities
Synergy began early and transparent
with new
Growing
opportunities
conversations
unions and its
thewith
tourism
workforce toindustry
ensure alignment on key
principles
to
give
workers and businesses
Understanding
the ability to plan for the future. Key
the workforce
elements of the support package for
Diversifying
Maximising
impacted Synergy workers include: skill
the
local
opportunities
Engaging
assessments, personal
planning support,
Supporting
economy
for affected
workers in the
redeployment, upskilling,
financial
local business
workers
Just Transition
planning support, assistance with job
search, training programs, funding
for approved training programs and
The importance of empowering workers
preparation for retirement. The assistance
Committing
Continuing
to control
their own future
is a key
offering included a series of workshops
Government
to Just
element
of the work towards
a Just
and information sessions for Muja
support
Transition
Showcasing
Transition.
The Plan aims to
provide
employees and
their families to guide
Collie’s history

Engaging the
community and
employers

Changing
the perspective
of Collie
Actions under each
theme that create
the Action Register
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them through transition and help
them make informed choices in
planning their futures.

In this first phase, the priority areas of
focus to maximise opportunities for
affected workers are:

Following the Muja C retirement
decision, Synergy engaged a dedicated
Workforce Transition Manager to develop
individualised and tailored plans for
impacted workers, helping them to make
planned decisions to ensure certainty.
More broadly, the Department of Training
and Workforce Development has already
undertaken a training capability review
with the intent of identifying areas
of opportunity for upskilling and job
matching. A workforce survey was also
undertaken by the JTWG to better
understand the profile and career
priorities of the workforce and inform
the work being undertaken.

• Engaging workers in the Just Transition;

Appendix 13

• Understanding the workforce;
• Matching workers with new
opportunities; and
• Supporting employers to support
workers.
The key goals of these priorities are to
increase participation and take-up by
workers of Just Transition efforts; to
understand workers’ skills and experience
in order to identify training and reskilling
opportunities to maximise benefit from
new jobs and opportunities; and to ensure
that individual employees are supported
to identify solutions that meet their own
individual and family needs.
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‘Diversifying the local economy’ has
a five year objective to develop and
implement strategies to increase economic
diversification and attract industry to Collie,
including those identified in the Economic
Development Action Plan for the Collie and
Bunbury Regions 2020-2026.
There has been significant work to date in
this area, including: tourism infrastructure
investment; Lake Kepwari; adventure
trails and business readiness assistance.
A total of $80 million in funding has also
been allocated to the future of Collie,
through the Industry Attraction and
Development Fund ($60 million) and
Collie Futures Fund ($20 million) to fund

itting

ion

Showcasing
Collie’s history

porting
ust
sition
king
p
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Changing
the perspective
of Collie
Actions under each
theme that create
the Action Register
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projects that will promote economic
diversity and jobs in Collie in industries
as diverse as: Energy; Tourism, Creative
Industries; Mining and Mining Equipment,
Technology and Services; Advanced
Manufacturing and Primary Industries.
The JTWG has identified a suite of
shorter-term actions to further support
this objective, which can be summarised
across three themes.
• Attracting and facilitating industry
opportunities;
• Growing the tourism economy; and
• Supporting local business.

Appendix 13
Image: westrac,
www.westrac.com.au
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The purpose of these actions is
to grow existing and develop new
industry sectors based on the region’s
comparative advantage; build on the
existing economic diversification efforts
to create a sustainable tourism economy
that will bring external investment and
expenditure into the town; and maximise
opportunities for local small to medium
enterprises, including Aboriginal business,
through existing and new investment.
Achieving these objectives will ensure
that Collie is well-placed to develop an
economy that is sustainable and able to
withstand shocks to a single industry.
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Changing
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The Shire of Collie and Collie-based
companies have started work in this area
through initiatives such as development
of a heritage trail that recognises and
celebrates Collie’s working history. The
JTWG has also identified a suite of
shorter-term actions to support this
objective, which can be summarised
across two themes.
• Showcasing Collie’s history; and
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The JTWG and other stakeholders
have stressed the importance of
both celebrating Collie’s history and
contribution to the State, and ensuring
it is future ready. To that end, the focus
area ‘Celebrating Collie’s History and
Promoting its Future’ has the dual
objectives of ensuring that the invaluable
contribution Collie has made to the
State of Western Australia is captured
and shared; and ensuring that the public
perception of Collie reflects and supports
a positive economic and social future.

By highlighting Collie’s contribution to
the State and encouraging locals and
visitors to understand Collie’s rich history,
recognition is built for Collie workers and
their families who have been an important
part of the State’s economic history.
Promoting Collie’s diverse and unique
offerings offers a way forward
that celebrates the past and builds on
the town’s future potential.

• Changing perspectives of Collie.
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Committing
to a Just Transition

The success of this Plan hinges on ensuring
ongoing Government and stakeholder
support for the Just Transition. This focus
area, ‘Committing to a Just Transition’,
has a five year objective to ensure a level
of commitment that will set the Group up
for the next stage of transition and create
momentum that can withstand changes
in Government, governance, and the
employment landscape.
In addition to grants and projects listed
previously, the WA Government has
already demonstrated commitment to
Collie’s Just Transition by:

• Establishing the Collie Delivery Unit
within the Department of the Premier
and Cabinet for an initial term of five
years to oversee and support whole-ofGovernment delivery on the Government’s
commitments to Collie.
• Agreeing to work in partnership with
the JTWG to develop and deliver a Just
Transition Plan for Collie.
Additionally, the JTWG has identified a suite
of shorter-term actions to support this
objective, which can be summarised across
three themes.
Continuing Government support;
• Engaging the community and
employers; and
• Supporting the Just Transition
Working Group.
Appendix 13

Engaging
workers in the
Just Transition

Continuing
Government
support

opportunities the loc
econom
for affected
Appendix 13
workers

Committing
to a Just
Transition

Engaging the
community and
employers
Supporting
the Just
Transition
Working
Group
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Ensuring ongoing commitment from State
and local governments throughout the Just
Transition Plan is fundamental and includes
the requirement that government effort is
coordinated. The WA Government must also
continue to seek opportunities to work with
the Commonwealth Government to ensure
that any federal investment is well considered
and supports the plans already in place.
In addition, the commitment to a Just
Transition must be owned by the workers,
employers, and community that it impacts.
A Just Transition must happen with those
impacted, and not to them. The JTWG is an
important mechanism to provide a forum for
all voices to be heard. To ensure that it remains
action oriented and fit for purpose, there
needs to be clear and transparent governance
and a mechanism for review at regular
intervals as the environment and requirements
of the Group change.
Appendix 13
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Transition
Implementation
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The commitment to implementation of
a Just Transition will need to be longterm and sustained throughout the
evolution of the process. The JTWG
will be the main mechanism to bring
together State and local governments,
unions, employers, and the community
to work collaboratively in the long term
to support the delivery of the Just
Transition Plan.
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Four sub-groups aligned to focus areas
have been created to drive actions in the
Just Transition Action Register that will
support the delivery of the Plan. The subgroups’ role will be to report on these
actions to the JTWG to ensure they are
achieving the Plan’s outcomes. On an
annual basis, the JTWG will review the
effectiveness of the sub-groups and set
new actions.
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The JTWG will continue to oversee the implementation of the Just Transition Plan.
Current JTWG members (2020):
• Department of the Premier
and Cabinet

• Shire of Collie

• Department of Jobs, Tourism,
Science and Innovation

• Collie Chamber of Commerce
and Industry

• Department of Training and
Workforce Development
• South Regional TAFE
• Energy Policy WA
• South West Development Commission
• CFMEU Mining and Energy Division WA
• Australian Manufacturing Workers’ Union

• Collie Futures Economic Advisory Group

• Bluewaters
• Premier Coal
• Griffin Coal
• Synergy
• South32 Worsley Alumina
• Worley

• Electrical Trade Union WA
• Australian Services Union

Appendix 13

Appendix 13

25

Appendix 13

Appendix 13

Collie’s Just Transition Plan
Appendix 13

Appendix 13

Collie’s Just Transition Plan
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Appendix 14

Collie’s Just Transition Plan builds on the significant suite of initiatives and projects supported by the WA Government since 2017 for the economic transformation and diversification of
Collie. The purpose of a Just Transition is to create a strong and sustainable future for Collie as it shifts away from a dependence on coal and coal-fired energy production. While the
commitment to a Just Transition will need to be long term, the Just Transition Plan provides the next step of this commitment and allows a focus on actions that will help provide for a
successful transition. The Just Transition Plan focusses on a five-year period from 2021-2025, with the primary goal of supporting affected workers and communities in the transition from
emissions-intensive industries in a coordinated way.

Maximising opportunities for affected workers

Strategic focus areas

The key goals of these actions are to increase
participation and take-up by workers of Just
Transition efforts; to understand workers’ skills and
experience in order to identify training and reskilling
opportunities to maximise benefit from new jobs and
opportunities; and to ensure that individual
employees are supported to identify solutions that
meet their own individual and family needs.

Diversifying the local economy
The purpose of these actions is to grow existing and
develop new industry sectors based on the region’s
comparative advantage; build on the existing economic
diversification efforts to create a sustainable tourism
economy that will bring external investment and
expenditure into the town; and maximise opportunities for
local small to medium enterprises, including Aboriginal
business, through existing and new investment.

Celebrating Collie’s History and
Promoting its Future

Committing to a Just Transition
Ensuring ongoing commitment from State and
local governments throughout the Just Transition
Plan is fundamental and includes the requirement
that government effort is coordinated. The WA
Government must also continue to seek
opportunities to work with the Commonwealth
Government to ensure that any federal investment
is well considered and supports the plans already
in place.

By highlighting Collie’s contribution to the State and
encouraging locals and visitors to understand Collie’s
rich history, recognition is built for Collie workers and
their families who have been an important part of the
State’s economic history. Promoting Collie’s diverse
and unique offerings offers a way forward that
celebrates the past and builds on the town’s future
potential.

Implementation
Just Transition Working Group

JTWG Four sub-groups

Action Register

Action Register review

Comprised of State and local governments,
unions, employers, and the community to
support the delivery of the Plan

To drive actions across
the four focus areas

Created by the JTWG, short-term
actions (12-18 months)

Annual refresh of the Action
Register across the life of the Plan

Just Transition Working Group Membership
Collie Futures
Economic Advisory
Group
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Department of the Premier and Cabinet – Collie Delivery Unit Dumas House. 2 Havelock Street, West Perth, Western Australia, 6005. – Dec 2020.
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